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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate companies to which a higher investment
risk may be attached than other companies listed on the
Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware
of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and
careful consideration. The greater risk profile and other
characteristics of GEM mean that it is a market more suited
to professional and other sophisticated investors.

Given the emerging nature of companies listed on GEM,
there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded
on the main board of the Stock Exchange and no assurance
is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities
traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make Nno representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Amuse
Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the
purpose of giving information with regard to the Company. The
Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to
the best of their knowledge and belief, the information contained
in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.
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ARER

Head Office and Principal Place
of Business in Hong Kong

Flat A-C, 3A/F, Metex House
24-32 Fui Yiu Kok Street
Tsuen Wan

Hong Kong

Principal Share Registrar and
Transfer Office

Estera Trust (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1350, Clifton House
75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar and

Transfer Office

Tricor Investor Services Limited
Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

Compliance Adviser

Ample Capital Limited

Legal Advisers as to Hong Kong Law

Stevenson, Wong & Co.
39/F, Gloucester Tower
The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Hong Kong

Principal Bankers
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Company’s Website

www.amusegroupholding.com

Stock Code
8545

4 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2018

BREENREBITEERBE

B
e

IRE F524-325%
KB A EBABA-CE

RIVBFEREE

Estera Trust (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1350, Clifton House
75 Fort Street, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

BERNBFETTRE

BERSFETLAR AR
B

ERNEFR1835
G221
SRER
ERBERRAA
EREEER
RN EFEERRERAT
B

ERREBF155]
BHES
EHETITREINE
FEFRELT
ERFT(BB)BRAR
NI e

www.amusegroupholding.com

RAD LR

8545



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ERW|E

After 14 years of efforts, Amuse Group Holding Limited (the
“Company”) was successfully listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 31
May 2018! | am very grateful for your support for and recognition
of the Company.

The Company is mainly engaged in design, production
management, distribution and retail of toys and related products.
After years of efforts, it has secured the fifth place among
ODM service providers of animated toys in Hong Kong. When
graduated from college 17 years ago, | was just a lad who did not
even know how to use a fax machine and was moving forward
with the motto of “being responsible”. | was inexperienced and
being looked down upon by others at the very beginning, but |
worked hard and put a lot of efforts in learning basic skills. With
painstaking efforts, | won the trust of customers and colleagues
and gained a reputation in Hong Kong’s animation industry. Now
with your great support, we managed to be listed on the GEM of
the Stock Exchange. Such experiences have become important
memories of my lifel | am very grateful for such experiences.

For me, success requires not only extraordinary perseverance,
but also the courage to innovate and try. | often tell myself that
there is a chance of failure in trying. But without trying, the
chance of success is zero. Even if it fails, what’s the big deal? At
least | tried and did my best. In addition, what | have learned from
failures will eventually pay off.

Here | hope to share with you a truth, that is, don’t be too
focused on the present. Those who have really worked hard
will one day yield the fruits of success. Too much focus on
immediate interests will only make you miss more opportunities.
| have to admit that | am an industrialist. | believe that only
with a pragmatic foundation can we achieve long-term robust
development. Pragmatism doesn’t mean that you don’t have to
try new things. On the contrary, when you want to make a new
attempt, the right thing to do is to take concrete actions instead
of just thinking or expecting others to bring ideas to you.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESE

After listing on the GEM in Hong Kong, the Group will focus
on expanding its own licensed toy product portfolio and
strengthening its overseas distribution network. Meanwhile, we
will further reinforce human resources management and improve
our information technology system, so as to promote the long-
term, stable and sustainable development of the Group. In
addition, we will try to set different development directions in an
effort to bring high returns to our supporters, shareholders and
employees based on the existing stable foundation. Of course,
we will not forget that the Company’s original intention is to bring
more innovative and creative products to everyone!

Mr. LI Wai Keung
Executive Director and Chairman
29 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BB RO

Market Overview

Hong Kong’s ACG figure toy industry players have been gradually
moving up the value chain, from a manufacturing role with
lower added value to one that incorporate product and process
design, production management, and quality control, and thus
provides higher added value. Have accumulated affluent industry
know-how and established mature value chain network, leading
ODM service suppliers have stepped into the phase of brand
development, when they set up their own brands for the sales of
ACG figure toys. An increasing number of ODM service suppliers
are expected to follow such pattern for their future development.

The provision of one-stop solution is considered to be a key trend
of Hong Kong’s ACG figure toy ODM service market. Leading
players have started to integrate different roles which enable
them to provide more value-adding services and increase their
involvement along the value chain. From a demand-side point
of view, such one-stop solution helps enhance brand owners’
and licensees’ efficiency and cost effectiveness, while from a
supply-side point of view, service suppliers are able to increase
their bargaining power and profitability, becoming increasingly
competitive in the market. Thus value chain integration is
considered to be a major trend.

Business Review

We believe that our dedication to quality toys and competitive
pricing over the years has contributed to our long-term
relationships with our largest customer group. we have had
worked with Sentinel Japan and Wing Co., Ltd. for over 7.5 and
11 years, respectively. We believe that our Group can leverage
on our established relationship with this two major customers
to further develop new business opportunities in the ACG toy
industry.

Qur distribution platforms mainly comprised (i) local and overseas
distributors; (i) our online store and flagship store in Hong Kong;
and (iii) certain consignment sales channels.

We applied the “SENTINEL/F{E#R”, “TOPI” and “FLAME TOYS”
brands in developing our own licensed toys during over the
years. We will increase the uniqueness of our own licensed toys,
enhance the market presence of our Group and distinguish our
Group from being a general toy distributor or retailer.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

We believe that our ability to carry out one-stop design and
distribution for licensed toys gives us competitive edges over
toy companies which are solely engaged in either toy design
or distribution operation. Since 2005, our Group has provided
ODM services to customers ranging from product design, mould
development, prototyping, production management and quality
control. We have our in-house design and development team.
Further, we have started our distribution operation for licensed
toys since 2012, and developed a diverse distribution platform
over the years.

Customer Relationship

To achieve better coordination of our overseas distributors,
we currently intend to establish three overseas representative
offices in our sales territories including the US, Taiwan and
Singapore. To this end, our Group has established the subsidiary
Sentinel US. We consider that the popularity of ACG figures
toys is higher in the US, Singapore and Taiwan comparing with
that of the PRC, and therefore it is beneficial and prudent to
our Group to expand into the ACG toys market in these three
geographical regions following the Listing. We have commenced
preliminary preparatory works in relation to the establishment
of representative office in the US. No subsidiary or branch
has been established in Taiwan and Singapore. Our overseas
representative offices are expected to perform the following
functions: () enhancing our promotion and sales efforts in those
overseas territories, including organizing marketing events and
participating in trade fairs and toy shows; (i) actively approaching
and liaising with potential distributors in those territories for future
cooperation; (iii) closely monitoring the sales performance of our
distributors in those territories; (iv) facilitating our sales by hiring
local staff in those territories to minimize time lags in processing
overseas purchase orders and delivery; and (v) providing after
sales services to end-consumers in those territories.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Financial Analysis

Revenue

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises for domestic sales or when goods are
shipped on board for export sales which is taken to be the
point in time when the customer has accepted the goods and
the related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Revenue decreased by approximately 3.6% to approximately
HK$132,025,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$136,888,000 for the Prior Year. The decrease in revenue
was mainly due to the decrease in revenue from (i) distribution
of imported toys; and (ii) sales of own licensed toys in the end of
year.

Cost of sales

Our Group’s cost of sales, incurred from the ODM toys
production costs, distribution of imported toys and own licensed
toys (i) production costs; (i) license fee; (iii) depreciation of mould;
and (iv) others.

Cost of sales decreased by approximately 1.1% to approximately
HK$95,733,000 for the Year from approximately HK$96,766,000
for the Prior Year, including the written-off and provision of
inventory in aggregate of approximately HK$426,000. If the
written-off and provision of inventory was excluded, the cost
of sales decreased by approximately 1.5%, which was slightly
higher than decrease in sales volume.

Gross profit

Gross profit decreased by approximately 9.5% to approximately
HK$36,292,000 for the Year from approximately HK$40,122,000
for the Prior Year. The gross profit margin decreased to
approximately 27.5% for the year from approximately 29.3% for
the Prior Year. If the written-off and provision of inventory was
excluded, the gross profit margin of the Year and the Prior Year
were 27.8% and 29.3%, respectively. The decrease in gross
profit margin is mainly due to the decrease in the portion of sales
of own licensed toys and distribution of imported toys, which
have higher gross profit margins as compared with sales of ODM
toys.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Other income and gains

Other income and gains increased by approximately 81.2% to
approximately HK$3,962,000 for the Year from approximately
HK$2,187,000 for the Prior Year. The significant increase was
mainly derived from the increase in net exchange difference on
foreign currency, mainly the Japanese Yen.

Selling expenses

Our selling expenses comprises (i) advertising; (ii) staff costs
which mainly represents the expenses in salary of staff; (iii)
freight, postage and delivery; (iv) commission expense for
our consignment sales; and (v) other selling and distribution
expenses. Selling expenses increased by approximately
13.5% from approximately HK$3,838,000 for the Prior Year to
approximately HK$4,358,000 for the Year, mainly due to (i) an
increase in staff costs mainly attributable to increase in number
of staff and salary increments to certain employees; and (ii)
increased commission expense attributable to the increase in
consignment sales.

Administrative expenses

Our administrative expenses mainly consists of (i) staff costs
which mainly represents the expenses in salary and staff benefit
payable to our administrative department including our Directors;
(i) operating lease charges for land and building; (iii) travelling and
entertainment expenses; (iv) audit fee; (v) depreciation expenses;
(vi) legal and professional fee; (vii) stamp duty; (viii) insurance
expenses mainly in relation to product liability insurance; and (ix)
other administrative expenses.

Administrative expenses increased by approximately 8.4% from
approximately HK$11,478,000 for the Prior Year to approximately
HK$12,440,000 for the Year. The increased expense was mainly
presented by (i) increase of legal and professional fee mainly
represented by the accounting consultancy fee; (i) increase in
staff costs of due to increase in salary and number of staff.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWE DN

Finance costs

The finance costs arose from our bank loans and overdrafts and
finance lease liabilities. Finance costs increased by approximately
4.4% to approximately HK$118,000 for the year from
approximately HK$113,000 for the Prior Year. The increased
cost mainly due to the increase in interests on bank loan and
overdrafts attributable to the increase in mortgage interest rate.

Income tax expenses

Income tax expenses were decreased by approximately 13.6%
to approximately HK$3,860,000 for the Year, as compared to
approximately HK$4,467,000 for the Prior Year. The decreased
expense was mainly because of the decrease in gross profit
margin in sales of own licensed toys and distribution of imported
toys.

The effective tax rates applied to the Group was approximately
18.6% and approximately 28.4% of profit before tax, respectively
for the Year and the Prior Year.

Future plans for material investments and capital
assets

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had no specific plan for material
investments or capital assets.

Significant investments held

As at 31 March 2018, the Group did not hold any significant
investments.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEWR D

Gearing Ratio

Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total loans and
borrowings (including amounts due to related parties, bank
borrowings due within one year and obligation under finance
lease) divided by total equity at the respective reporting date. As
at 31 March 2018, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
0.09 times, while it was 0.11 times as at 31 March 2017. The
slight decrease in gearing ratio from approximately 0.11 times as
at 31 March 2017 to approximately 0.09 times as at 31 March
2018 was mainly due to the repayment of bank loan and the
increased of reserve during the year ended 31 March 2018. The
Group’s financial position is sound and strong. With available
bank balances and cash, the Group has sufficient liquidity to
satisfy its funding requirements.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Certain trade receivables, bank balances and trade payables are
denominated in foreign currency of the respective group entities
which are exposed to foreign currency risk. Although part of
Group’s revenue and cost are in USD and Japanese Yen, the
Group does not expect any significant movement in the USD
and Japanese Yen exchange rate. The Group currently does not
has a foreign currency hedging policy. However, management
monitors foreign exchange exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.

Contingent Liabilities

Details of the Group’s contingent liabilities are set out in note 2(p)
to the consolidated financial statements.

Event After the Reporting Period

Details of the Group’s event after the reporting period are set out
in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EERSREEASRHN

Executive Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung (Z=1234), aged 38, is a founder of our Group.
He is the Chairman, a Controlling Shareholder and an executive
Director. He is currently responsible for overall business
development as well as financial and strategic planning of our
Group. Mr. Li is also a director of each of the wholly-owned
subsidiaries of our Group. Mr. Li has over 12 years of experience
in the ACG toy industry in Hong Kong. Prior to establishing our
Group, Mr. Li worked at L. Y. Creative Co., Limited, which was a
company engaged in toy industry, from November 2002 to April
2004, with his last position as project engineer. Subsequently,
from May 2004 to July 2004, he worked as a project engineer
at Hutchison Harbour Ring Co., Limited, which was a company
engaged in toy industry. In September 2004, he, among others,
established Bestone Creative for designing and manufacturing
toys on ODM basis. In December 2008, Mr. Li, among others,
established Sentinel Hong Kong with the aim to developing
and distributing its own licensed toys of ACG characters. Mr.
Li obtained a degree of Bachelor of Engineering in Mechanical
Engineering from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in
November 2001.

Mr. Li did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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Mr. TO Hoi Pan (ft3#83E), aged 44, is an executive Director and
the company secretary of our Company. He is currently
responsible for (i) the financial reporting, financial planning,
treasury and financial control and company secretarial matters;
and (i) the overall business development of our Group. Mr. To
has over 13 years of experience in the field of accounting and
financial management. Prior to joining our Group, from April
2003 to March 2004, Mr. To worked as assistant accountant
at Jebsen & Co. Limited. from March 2004 to June 2011, he
worked as accounting manager at Bio-Treat Technology Limited
(currently known as China Everbright Water Limited). Mr. To then
worked as accounting consultant in Timex Corporate Consulting
Limited from July 2011 to February 2013. From May 2013 to
June 2015, he worked as chief financial officer at Opes Asia
Development Limited (Stock code: 810) (currently known as
China Internet Investment Finance Holdings Limited), the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange. Mr. To
joined our Group as a chief financial officer in March 2016, and
was appointed as our company secretary in March 2017.

Mr. To obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce in
Accountancy from the University of Wollongong in Australia in
December 1999. He became a certified practicing accountant
of the CPA Australia in June 2007. Mr. To is currently a certified
public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. To did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.

Ms. LEE Kwai Fong (Z#35), aged 32, is an executive Director
and our general manager. Ms. Lee joined our Group in August
2006 and was promoted to general manager in November
2011. Ms. Lee is mainly responsible for managing the general
operations of our Group. Ms. Lee attended secondary school
education in Hong Kong. She completed the Certificate
Programme in Basic Korean level 1 and level 2, both at the
School of Continuing and Professional Studies of The Chinese
University of Hong Kong, in November 2011 and April 2012,
respectively.

Ms. Lee did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. YU Pui Hang (% 51 18 ), aged 38, is an independent non-
executive Director. He is responsible for providing independent
judgement on our strategy, performance, resources and
standard of conduct. Mr. Yu obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Laws from the King’s College London of the University of London
in the United Kingdom in July 2001. Mr. Yu was admitted to
practise law as a solicitor in Hong Kong in August 2004 and in
England and Wales in April 2005. He was also admitted as an
associate of the Hong Kong Institute of Arbitrators in May 2003.
Mr. Yu was appointed as the honorary legal advisor to the Hong
Kong Federation of Invention and Innovation since July 2017
and the honorary legal advisor to The GHM-Greater Bay Area
TECHFIN Association since May 2018. Mr. Yu has over 12 years
of experience in the legal industry. Mr. Yu worked as assistant
solicitor at Kennedys from July 2004 to August 2005. From
November 2005 to October 2006, he worked as an associate at
a Hong Kong office of Norton Rose (Services) Limited. He then
worked as associate at Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer from
November 2006 to July 2010. Subsequently, he worked at ICBC
International Holdings Limited from July 2010 to December 2015
with his last position as executive director, associate general
counsel of legal department. In January 2016, Mr. Yu co-founded
L&Y Law Office, and is currently a partner of the firm.

Mr. Yu did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public
companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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Mr. TUNG Man (EXX), aged 43, is an independent non-executive
Director. He is responsible for providing independent judgement
on our strategy, performance, resources and standard of
conduct. Mr. Tung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Social
Science with Honours from The Chinese University of Hong Kong
in December 1997. Mr. Tung has over 19 years of experience
in the banking and finance industry. From October 1997 to
August 2000, Mr. Tung worked at Dao Heng Bank Limited, with
his last position as consultant personal financial services. From
August 2000 to February 2005, Mr. Tung worked at Chekiang
First Bank Limited, and subsequently Wing Hang Bank, Limited
(after its acquisition of the former bank), with his last position as
senior officer. Mr. Tung subsequently worked at the Hong Kong
Branch of Bank of Communications Co., Ltd from February 2005
to October 2015 at which his last position was deputy chief
relationship manager of global banking department. Mr. Tung has
worked at China Tian Yuan International Finance (Management)
Limited since October 2015, and is currently the managing
director of the capital management department.

Mr. Tung did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.
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Ms. CHOW Chi Ling Janice (A#2%), aged 35, is an independent
non-executive Director. She is responsible for providing
independent judgement on our strategy, performance, resources
and standard of conduct. Ms. Chow obtained a degree of
Bachelor of Commerce from The University of Auckland in New
Zealand in May 2004. She subsequently obtained a degree of
Master of Commerce in Finance from The University of New
South Wales in Australia in September 2005. She has become a
certified public accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants since January 2010. Ms. Chow has over 13
years of experience in the auditing and financial management
industry. Ms. Chow worked as graduate accountant in audit
division at Stirling SCI, chartered accountants, from July 2004
to May 2005. From September 2005 to December 2007, she
worked at Wong Lam Leung & Kwok C.P.A Limited, with her
last position as accountant Il. She subsequently joined Moore
Stephens Associates Limited in Hong Kong as audit assistant
in January 2008 and worked until September 2012, with her
last position as an audit supervisor. From February 2013 to July
2016, she worked as assistant finance manager at Boer Power
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1685), the shares of which are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. From October
2016 to December 2016, she was employed by Sky Business
Consultants Limited as consulting manager. Ms. Chow joined
Ready Electrical Metal Work Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of REM Group (Holdings) Limited (“REM Group” (stock code:
1750), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) in January 2017, and she is currently serving
as the chief financial officer and the company secretary of REM
Group.

Ms. Chow did not hold other directorship in any other listed
or public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Company Secretary

Mr. To Hoi Pan, the chief financial officer of the Company, was
appointed as company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) in March 2017. The biographical details of Mr.
To are disclosed in the section headed “Directors and Senior
Management Profile” in this annual report. For the year ended 31
March 2018, the Company Secretary undertook no less than 15
hours of professional training to update her skills and knowledge.
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Senior Management

Ms. LAW Yuen Wai (£ i ), aged 37, has joined our Group
since August 2013 and was promoted to sales manager in March
2016. Ms. Law is mainly responsible for overseeing the overall
sales and customer service of our Group. Ms. Law obtained a
degree of Bachelor of Arts in Marketing and Public Relations from
the School of Professional Education and Executive Development
of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2012.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. Law has accumulated experience
in marketing and administration in Hong Kong through her
employment at Avroy Outdoor Limited as assistant merchandiser
from January 2004 to June 2005, Billy Trading Co., Ltd as
assistant merchandiser from July 2005 to September 2006,
Oro Watch Limited as marketing assistant from November 2006
to February 2009, Chuk Yip Enterprise Co., Ltd. as marketing
assistant from December 2009 to June 2010, Greenland Watch
Limited as sales-coordinator from June 2010 to February 2011,
Heshen Limited as project coordinator from June 2012 to April
2013.

Ms. Law did not hold other directorship in any other listed or
public companies, of which the securities are listed on any
securities market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three
years.

Ms. FU Man Yin (88 %), aged 32, has joined our Group since
July 2014 and was promoted to marketing manager in March
2016. She is mainly responsible for overseeing the marketing
activities of our Group. She obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 2009.

Prior joining our Group, Ms. Fu has accumulated experience in
marketing in Hong Kong through her employment at Konishi M&E
Limited as sales coordinator from August 2009 to April 2012 and
BB Technology Limited as assistant to director from August 2013
to December 2013.

Ms. Fu did not hold other directorship in any other listed or public

companies, of which the securities are listed on any securities
market in Hong Kong or overseas in the last three years.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
GEEATE

The Company is committed in maintaining high standards
of corporate governance (“CG”). The Board believes that
commitment in CG practices will definitely benefit Company’s
shareholders in long term. From the listing date to the date of
this annual report, the Company has applied the principles and
complied with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules in force at that time.

The Board considers that good CG is central to safeguarding
the interests of the shareholders and enhancing the performance
of the Group. The Board will continuously review and improve
the CG practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision making processes are regulated
in a proper and prudent manner.

With a view to further improving the Company’s CG practices,
the following actions were taken in 2018:

— Appointment of INEDs with appropriate professional
accounting qualifications and financial management
experience with regulatory entitles to further broaden the
collective knowledge, perspective and skill of the Board.

— Al members of the Audit Committee are INEDs and at least
one of them have appropriate professional accounting
qualifications and financial management experience.

— Introduction of a program of continuous professional
development for Directors by providing internal training to
the Board.

—  To adopt Board diversity policy to recognize and embrace
the benefits of having a diverse Board to enhance the
quality of its performance. In designing the Board’s
composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
RERTH

Code of Conduct Regarding Securities
Transactions by Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by Directors. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, all the Directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standard as set out
in the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions from the listing date to the date of this
annual report.

The Board

The Board focuses on the overall strategic development and
is also responsible for monitoring the financial performance,
risk management and the internal controls of the Group. With
a wide range of expertise and a balance of skills, the INEDs
bring independent judgement on issues of strategic direction,
development, performance and risk management through their
contribution at Board meetings and committees work.

Appointment and re-election of Directors

All of the Directors have service agreements or letters of
appointment and the details of their terms are set out in the
Report of the Directors on pages 34 to 35 of this annual report.
All Directors are subject to re-election by shareholders at the
general annual meeting. Retiring Directors are eligible for re-
election and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general
meetings is dealt with by separate individual resolutions. Where
vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are proposed and put
forward to the Board by the Nomination Committee as more fully
explained below under the section on Nomination Committee.

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board has three executive
Directors and three INEDs, as shown on pages 23 to 27 of
this annual report. Biographies of the Company’s Directors are
shown on pages 13 to 17 of this annual report.

INEDs ensure the Board accounts for the interest of all
shareholders and subject matters are considered objectively. The
Board considers all of the INEDs to be independent. INEDs have
accounted for 50% of the full Board.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
RERTH

Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer

The Chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and the Chief Executive
Officer is Mr. LI Wai Keung.

The Directors recognise the importance of good corporate
governance in management and internal procedures so as to
achieve effective accountability. During the Relevant Period,
the Group has complied with the Corporate Governance Code
as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing Rules, except for
the deviation from the code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code as set out in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules. Mr. Li is the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer of the Company and he has been managing the Group’s
business and supervising the overall operations of the Group since
2004. The Directors consider that vesting the roles of the chairman
of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company in Mr.
Li is beneficial to the management and business development of
the Group and will provide a strong and consistent leadership to
the Group. The Board will continue to review and consider splitting
the roles of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive
officer at a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into
account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Induction, Information and ongoing Development

All the Directors were kept informed on a timely basis of major
changes that may have affected the Group’s business, including
relevant rules and regulations. During the year, all Directors have
participated in continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills in accordance with code
provision A.6.5 contained in the CG Code.

All of the Directors have also provided to the Company their
records of training attended or fulfilment of ongoing development
for the year, the information of which has been entered in the
reqgister of directors’ training records maintained and updated
by the Company from time to time. The following summaries the
compliance status of all Directors of the Company in respect of
code provision A.6.5 during the year:
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE
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Role and Responsibilities of the Board

The board delegated appropriate aspects of its management
and administrative functions to management. It also give clear
directions as to the powers of management, in particular, with
respect to the matters that management must report back and
obtain prior approval from the Board before making decisions or
entering into any commitments on behalf of the Company.

To assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities, the Board
established three committees, namely audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee.

Board Process

All the Directors are regularly updated on the governance and
regulatory matters. There is an established procedure or Directors
to obtain independent professional advice at the expense of the
Company in the furtherance of their duties. The Company has
also arranged appropriate director and officer liability insurance
cover in respect of any potential legal actions that might be taken
against its Directors.

The Board meets regularly throughout the review the overall
strategies and monitor the operations as well as the financial
performance of the Group. Notice of at least 14 days has
been given to all Directors for all regular Board meetings and
the Directors can include matters for discussion in the agenda
whenever they consider appropriate and necessary. Agenda and
accompanying Board paper in respect of regular Board meetings
are despatched in full to all Directors within a reasonable time
before the meeting. Directors have to declare their direct or
indirect interests, if any, in any proposals or transactions to be
considered by the Board at board meetings and abstain from
voting as appropriate. Draft minutes of all board meetings are
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time prior
to confirmation.
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Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees
are kept by the Company Secretary. All Directors have free
access to board paper and related materials, enabling the Board
to make informed decision on matters place before. During the
period from the Listing Date to the date of this report, one Board
meeting was held and the attendance details are shown follows:
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Board

Meeting

attended

from the

listing date

to the date

of this

annual report

HLtm A

EXRFHRAH

HER

Name of Directors BEEER EESEE

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. LI Wai Keung (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) PRBEE(FERITEAEZ) 11

Mr. TO Hoi Pan Mg A 1/1

Ms. LEE Kwai Fong THEFZLT 1/1
Independent non-executive Directors BAFHTES

Mr. YU Pui Hang FOMESAE 1/1

Mr. TUNG Man B A 1/1

Ms. CHOW Chi Ling Janice AEF L+ 1/1
Board’s Committees EEXEg

The Board has established three committees, namely audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee.
Each of them has specific terms of reference to consider matters
relating to specific areas and to advise the Board on such
matters. INEDs play a significant role in these committees to
ensure that independent and objective views are taken. The list
of the Chairman and members of each Board committee is set
out on pages 24 to 26 of this annual report.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee of the Company was established in
compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules
and code provision C.3.3 of the CG Code. The main duties of
the Audit Committee are to assist the Board in reviewing the
Company’s financial information, overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting system, risk management and internal control systems,
reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness of the scope of audit
and making recommendation to the Board on the appointment of
external auditors.

The Audit Committee currently consists of three members,
namely Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice (the Chairlady of the Audit
Committee), Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Mr. Tung Man, all being
independent non-executive Directors. No member of the Audit
Committee is a member of the former or existing independent
auditor of the Company. The Audit Committee has reviewed this
annual report, including the audited consolidated results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2018.

According to the current terms of reference, the Audit Committee
shall meet at least four times for a financial year. The Audit
Committee held a meeting on 29 June 2018 to (i) review and
approve the annual financial results in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018; (ii) discuss and consider the significant issues
on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
systems; and (iii) review the appointment of external auditors
and relevant scope of works. The record of attendance of each
member of the Audit Committee is set out as follows:
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WES  BREERANIDEERS - R RE
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LI

Meeting

attended/

eligible

to attend

Name of members of HEEER
the Audit Committee ERZEEREHSR HEER
Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice JEfe + 1/1
Mr. Yu Pui Hang FOME AL 1/1
Mr. Tung Man BEXSRAE 11
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee of the Company currently consist
of three members, namely Mr. Yu Pui Hang (the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee), Mr. Tung Man and Ms. Chow Chi
Ling Janice, all being independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the overall remuneration policy
and structure relating to all Directors and senior management of
the Group; review performance-based remuneration; and ensure
none of the Directors or any of his/her associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) determine his/her own remuneration.

No meeting was held by the Remuneration Committee during the
Relevant Period.

Details of emoluments of the Director of the Group for the year
are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements in
this annual report.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee of the Company consists of three
members, namely Mr. Tung Man (the Chairman of the Nomination
Committee), Mr. Yu Pui Hang and Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice all
being independent non-executive Directors.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board at
least annually; identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members; access the independence of independent non-
executive Directors; and make recommendations to the Board
on relevant matters relating to the appointment or reappointment
of Directors. Upon the establishment of the Nomination
Committee, the Board has adopted a policy of diversity of the
Board. Accordingly, selection of Board members should base
on a range of diversified perspective, including without limitation,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

No meeting was held by the Nomination Committee during the
Relevant Period.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Company conducts an annual review on whether there
is a need for an internal audit department. Given the Group’s
simple operating structure, as opposed to a separate internal
audit department, the Board is directly responsible for the
establishment, maintenance and review of the Group’s system
of internal controls and risk management throughout the year
ended 31 March 2018 and their effectiveness. The Company has
engaged an external independent professional advisory firm (the
“Independent Advisor”) to review the effectiveness and adequacy
of risk management and internal control systems in 2018 so as
to ensure the effectiveness and adequacy of risk management
and internal controls system. The Independent Advisor had
reviewed and analysed all material controls of the Group,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
their associated risks. The relevant reports from the Independent
Advisor were presented to and reviewed by the Audit Committee
and the Board.
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The Board considered the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group to be adequate and effective for the year
ended 31 March 2018. The Board also conducted a review of
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programs and budget which are considered to be
adequate for the year ended 31 March 2018.

Auditor’s Remuneration

During the year, the remuneration paid to the external auditors
of the Company, KPMG, in respect of audit services for the year
ended 31 March 2018 amounted to HK$780,000.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors
and Auditors

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and comply with the requirement of
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (“Hong Kong Companies Ordinance”) and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Listing Rules. The auditors are
responsible for forming an independent opinion, based on the
audit, on the financial statements prepared by the Directors and
reporting the opinion solely to the Company’s shareholders. The
Independent Auditor’s Report is set out on pages 44 to 55 of this
annual report.

Investor and Shareholder Relation

The Company endeavors to continue maintaining a high level
of transparency in communicating with shareholders and the
investment community at large. Briefings and meetings with
institutional investors and analysts are conducted regularly. The
Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor communication policy and to update investors on
relevant regulatory requirements.

Financial information and all shareholder corporate communications
of the Company are made available on the Company’s website at
http://www.amusegroupholding.com and updated regularly on a
timely basis.
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The Board and management shall ensure shareholders’ right and
all shareholders are treated equitably and fairly. The Company will
announce and publish its interim and annual results in a timely
manner, which is well before the time limits set out in the Listing
Rules. Separate resolutions will be proposed at the general
meetings on each substantially separate issue, including the re-
election of individual Directors, if any.

The annual general meeting will provide an opportunity for
direct communication between the Board and the Company’s
shareholders.

The Company regards the annual general meeting as an
important event in which the Chairman and all Directors will make
an effort to attend. External auditors shall also be invited to attend
the Company’s annual general meeting and are also available
to assist the Directors in addressing queries from shareholders
relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation and
content of the auditors’ report. All shareholders are given prior
notice on a timely basis together with a detailed agenda. The
Board, according to the Listing Rules, will conduct voting at the
forthcoming AGM by poll. The results of the Company will be
declared at the meeting, and announced timely on the Stock
Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.
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Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for convening an extraordinary general meeting and
putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meeting.

Any shareholder(s) individually or collectively holding 10% or more
of the Company’s total issued share capital shall be entitled to
request the Board in writing to convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Upon receiving such request, the Board shall issue a
notice of extraordinary general meeting within 21 days and hold
an extraordinary general meeting within two months from the
receipt of such request. If within 21 days of the receipt of such
request the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the
shareholder(s) proposing to convene an extraordinary general
meeting in writing may himself/herself (themselves) convene an
extraordinary general meeting in the same manner.

Procedures for shareholders to put enquires to the Board
Shareholders must prove to the Board that they really own the
equity interests of the Company (e.g. by proving shareholding
documents etc.). The Company suggests shareholders should
submit their enquiries in writing (including by email, facsimile and
mail) and provide sufficient contact details so that the Company
can process their enquiries in a proper and timely manner.

Shareholders may contact the Company via the following means:

Address: Flat A-C, 3A/F., Metex House,
24-32 Fui Yu Kok Street,
Tsuen Wan, New Territories,
Hong Kong.

Email: info@amusegroupholding.com

Tel No.: (852) 3702 3276

Fax No.: (852) 3959 0091
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the duties on corporate
governance function as set out below:

To develop and review the Company’s policies and
practices on corporate governance;

— To review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior
management;

—  To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

—  To develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual applicable to employees and Directors;

and

—  To review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
e

The Board of Directors is pleased to present this report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2018 (the “Consolidated Financial
Statements”).

Corporate Reorganisation

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability on 16 November 2016. In preparing for the Listing,
the Company became the holding company of the companies
now comprising the Group underwent the Reorganisation.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
major activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
12 to the consolidated financial statements of the Group. There
were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Business Review

A review of the Group’s business during the Reporting Period is
provided in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 7 to 12 of this annual report. The Group’s
risk management and internal control system is provided in the
section headed “Corporate Governance Code” on pages 19 to
30 of this annual report.

Compliance With the Relevant Laws and
Regulations

As the Board is aware, there was no material breach of or
non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by
the Group that has a significant impact on the business and
operation of the Group during the year.

RBERAEEHEZ TN
B FENERZEAMBREK

MARE
=t-
I E]) -

=i
F

-
(a8t

H> I 18

¥EH

ARRRZE—R"F+—A+BEHREHSE
%H%W_Lﬁfﬁ_ﬁﬁ Al BREHELT AR TEZ
RIS ERBIRRF AR AR B R A R IERR A E]

ARAMEREBR/REZER - X EHBERQ
AMEREBENANEESE B BRERWME
12 FR AEEXREHNEETES AE
) o

E SR
REERRERENEH BN AFRETE2
B ERE TR RAN IR - XEEDA,
B RN EE RRRINAF RE19E30H
[REATA—ERe -

BFRBERENRER

BEEEHRE  FA - ARELHERERL
el e s
BELEAYE

T \E£R EREEERsREAT 31



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEEWRESE

Results and Dividends

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 (the
“Reporting Period”) are set out in the Consolidated Financial
Statements on pages 56 to 60 of this annual report. The
Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend and
resolved not to declare any final dividend in respect of the year
ended 31 March 2018.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group are set out in Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for
the latest three financial years is set out on page 140 of this
annual report.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in Note 20(b) to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Distributable Reserves

As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands, is approximately HK$974,000 (2017: Nil).

Reserves

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company
and the Group during the year are set out in note 20(a) to
the consolidated financial statements of the Group and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 59 of this
annual report respectively.
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Borrowings

Details of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2018 are
set out in Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year ended 31 March 2018, so far as the Company
is aware, the aggregate revenue attributable to our five largest
customers and the largest customer accounted for approximately
78% and 67.8%, respectively, of the Group’s total revenue
for the financial year. Purchases from the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for approximately 83.8% of the Group’s
total purchases for the financial year and the purchase from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
45.4%. None of the Directors, or any of his close associates (as
defined under the GEM Listing Rules) or shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital), had any beneficial interest
in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
financial year.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There are no pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the
date of this report, the Company has maintained the percentage
of public float as prescribed in the Listing Rules for the Reporting
Period and at any time before up to the date of this annual report.
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Directors

The Directors of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2018 and up to and including the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Wai Keung
(Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. To Hoi Pan

(appointed on 16 November 2016)

(appointed on 26 January 2017)

Ms. Lee Kwai Fong (appointed on 2 March 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Yu Pui Hang (appointed on 11 May 2018)

Mr. Tung Man (appointed on 11 May 2018)

Ms. Chow Chi Ling Janice  (appointed on 11 May 2018)

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, the Directors shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the
Board or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office
until the first general meeting of members of the Company after
his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting
and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following AGM
of the Company and shall then be eligible for reelection.

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, notwithstanding any
other provisions in the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of
three (3), the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be
subject to retirement at an AGM at least once every three years.
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Directors’ and Senior Management’s
Biographies

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group as at the date of this annual report are
set out on pages 13 to 18 of this annual report.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company pursuant to which he or she has
agreed to act as an executive Director for an initial term of three
years with effect from the Listing Date. Either party has the right
to give not less than three months’ written notice to terminate the
service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been
appointed for a fixed term of three years with effect from
the Listing Date. Save for the Directors’ fees, none of the
independent non-executive Directors is expected to receive any
other emolument for holding his or her office as a non-executive
Director or an independent non-executive Director.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has proposed
or entered into any service agreement or appointment letter with
the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation
other than the statutory compensation.
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Confirmation of Independency of
Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.

Directors’ Interest in Transactions,
Arrangements or Contracts of Significance

Save as disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements, no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any
of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or his
connected entity had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year ended 31 March 2018
or at any time during the year ended 31 March 2018.

Related Party Transaction

Details of material related party transactions of the Group are set
out in note 23 to the financial statements. None of the material
related party transactions disclosed in note 23 to the financial
statements constitute connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction (as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules) of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2018.
Accordingly, the Company has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2018.

Permitted Indemnity Provisions

Pursuant to the Articles, the Directors shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets or profits of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about
the execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation
thereto. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers
of the Company.
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Emoluments of the Directors and the Five
Highest Paid Individuals

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

Emolument Policy

The executive Directors, the independent non-executive Directors
and senior management receive compensation in the form of
directors’ fees, salaries, benefits in kind and/or discretionary
bonuses with reference to those paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and performance of the Group. The Group also
reimburses the Directors and senior management for expenses
which are necessarily and reasonably incurred for provision of
services to the Group or executing their functions in relation
to the Group’s operations. The Group regularly reviews and
determines the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors and senior management by reference to, among
other things, market level of remuneration and compensation
paid by comparable companies, respective responsibilities of the
Directors and performance of the Group.

After the Listing, the Remuneration Committee will review and
determine the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors with reference to their experience, responsibilities,
workload, time devoted to the Group and performance of the
Group.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or
Debentures

At no time during the year ended 31 March 2018 were rights
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or
debentures of the Company granted to any Director or their
respective spouse or minor children (under 18 years of age), or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, its
holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangement whose objectives are to enable a
Director of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate.
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Interests and Short Positions of Directors
and Chief Executive in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of the
Company

Since the Shares of the Company were not listed on the Stock
Exchange as at 31 March 2018, Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of
the SFO, section 352 of the SFO and the Model Code contained
in the GEM Listing Rules were not applicable to the Company,
the Directors and chief executive of the Company as at 31
March 2018. As at the date of this report, the interests or short
positions of each of the Directors and the chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any associated corporation (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571
of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which are required (a) to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Division 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFO); or (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) have
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules are as follows:

Nature of interest/
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Percentage of issued

Number of ordinary share capital of

Name of Director Holding capacity shares held the Company
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(Note 1)

(Btat1)

Mr. Li Wai Keung Interest of a controlled corporation 637,500,000 (L) 63.75%
FREITE RimAEES (Notes 2, 3)
(K152 - 3)

New Express Investment Interest of a controlled corporation 112,500,000 (L) 11.25%
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Notes:

1. As at the date of this report, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01
each.

2. Infinite Force Holdings Ltd (“Infinite Force”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 18 October 2016 and an investment holding
company, is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li who is the chairman
and an executive Director of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to
be interested in the 637,500,000 Shares held by Infinite Force by virtue of his
100% shareholding interest in Infinite Force.

3. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company had any other
interest or a short position in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to
be recorded in the register kept by the Company under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Interests and Short Positions of Substantial
Shareholders in the Shares, Underlying
Shares and Debentures of the Company

Since the Shares of the Company were not listed on the Stock
Exchange as at 31 March 2018, Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO and section 336 of the SFO were not applicable to the
Company and the substantial shareholders as at 31 March 2018.
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As at the date of this report, so far as it is known to the Directors,
the following persons, other than Directors or chief executive
of the Company, who held interest or short position in the
Company’s Shares and underlying Shares were recorded in
the register of the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or, who was interested, directly
or indirectly, in 10% or more of the nominal value of any class
of share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at
general meetings of the Company:

Nature of interest/

RARER - BEEAA

ATAL(EEH

ARBEBTRABRINRA QBB MAARH
B s B RIERE 75 R B R PI EXVEREF 2 )
FE37 BMERX AR AR R R E O AR R S0OR
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BEE10% A FiEs

Number of ordinary

Percentage of issued

share capital of

Name of Director Holding capacity shares held the Company

HAERT 8T

BEsps 28 BEME EREH FisgBERYE RANBE DL

(Note 1)

(Ktat1)

Infinite Force Holdings Ltd  Interest of a controlled corporation 637,500,000 (L) 63.75%
R EE R (Notes 2, 3)
(Kiat2 - 3)

Ms. Fong Wing Yan Interest of spouse 637,500,000 (L) 63.75%
(“Ms. Fong”) [ty e (Notes 4)
FREZ (L)) (Hfat4)

New Express Investment Interest of a controlled corporation 112,500,000 (L) 11.25%

Limited

X I/f.*g

MBREARA

Notes:
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As at the date of this report, the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 1,000,000,000 Shares of HK$0.01
each.

Infinite Force Holdings Ltd (“Infinite Force”), a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands on 18 October 2016 and an investment holding
company, is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Li who is the chairman
and an executive Director of the Company. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to
be interested in the 637,500,000 Shares held by Infinite Force by virtue of his
100% shareholding interest in Infinite Force.

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

Ms. Fong is the spouse of Mr. Li. She is deemed to be interested in the
Shares in which Mr. Li is interested under Part XV of the SFO.
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Directors’ Interests in Competing Business

None of the Directors is or was interested in any business apart
from the Group’s business, that competes or competed or is
or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
Group’s business at ay time during the year ended 31 March
2018 and up to and including the date of this annual report.

Interests of the Compliance Adviser

In accordance with Rule 6A.19 of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed Ample Capital Limited (“Ample Capital”)
to be the compliance adviser. As informed by Ample Capital ,
neither Ample Capital nor any of its directors or employees or
close associates, has or may have, any interest in the share
capital of the Company or any member of the Group (including
options or rights to subscribe for such securities), which is
required to be notified to the Company pursuant to Rule 6A.32
of the GEM Listing Rules, except for the compliance adviser
agreement entered into between the Company and Ample
Capital dated 10 May 2018.

Directors’ Indemnities and Insurance

As permitted by the articles of association of the Company, a
director of the Company may be indemnified out of the assets
and profits of the Company from and against all actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages and expenses which the director
shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of his or her
duty as a director of the Company, to the extent permitted
by law. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force
since the adoption of the articles of association of the Company
on 16 November 2016 and is currently in force at the time of
approval of this report.

The Company has also taken out and maintained directors’ and
officers’ liability insurance throughout the year, which provides
appropriate cover for certain legal actions brought against its
directors and officers.
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Deed of Non-Competition

Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed to the
Company of its/his compliance with the terms and undertakings
of the deed of non-competition provided to the Company under
the Deed of Non-competition provided to the Company under
the Deed of Non-competition (as defined in the Company’s
prospectus dated 18 May 2018). The INEDs of the Company
have reviewed the status of compliance and confirmed that all
the terms and undertakings under the Deed of Non-competition
have been complied with by the controlling shareholders.

Corporate Governance

The Company and its management are committed to maintain
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles
of transparency, accountability and independence to all
shareholders. The Company believes that good corporate
governance is essential for continual growth and enhancement
of shareholder’s value. From the listing date to the date of this
annual report, the Company has applied and complied with the
code provisions stipulated in the Corporate Governance Report
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company
periodically reviews its corporate governance practices with
reference to the latest development in corporate governance.
The Group’s principal corporate governance practices and
compliance with code provisions are set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 19 to 30 of this annual report.

Environmental and Corporate Social
Responsibilities

During the reporting period, the Group is committed to
continuously promote the long-term, stable and sustainable
development of employees, environmental protection and social
responsibilities.

The Environmental, Social and Government Report for the year
ended 31 March 2018 containing all information required by the
GEM Listing Rules will be published on the respective websites
of GEM and the Company in due course.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee had reviewed with management the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2018, the accounting principles and practices adopted
and discussed auditing, internal controls and financial reporting
matters.
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Auditor

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been audited by
KPMG. A resolution to re-appoint KPMG as our auditor will be
submitted for shareholders’ approval at our forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board of Directors

Mr. LI Wai Keung
Executive Director and Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KkPMG!

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of Amuse Group Holding Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Amuse Group Holding Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 56 to 138, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2018, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the

consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2018 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA.
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are
relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfiled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit
of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a

separate opinion on these matters.

Timing of revenue recognition

Refer to note 4 to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policy in note 2(q).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s revenue is principally generated from the
sale of Original Design Manufacturing (“ODM”) toys to
licence holders, sale of own licensed toys and distribution
of imported toys. Revenue is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods
have been transferred to the customers in accordance
with the contractual arrangements and related agreed
commercial shipping terms.

The Group evaluates the contractual and shipping
terms of each sales contract in order to determine the
appropriate timing for revenue recognition.

We identified the timing of revenue recognition, which is
a point in time when the Group transfers the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods to the
customers, as a key audit matter because each sales
contract may have different terms and conditions which
increases the risk of error and because revenue is one
of the key performance indicators of the Group and
could be subject to manipulation to meet targets or
expectations.
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Our audit procedures to assess the timing of revenue
recognition from sales of toys and related products
included the following:

e  obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over revenue recognition;

o inspecting key customer contracts to identify terms
and conditions relating to transfer of the significant
risks and rewards of ownership of the goods and
assessing the Group’s timing of revenue recognition
with reference to the requirements of the prevailing
accounting standards;

e comparing, on a sample basis, whether specific
revenue transactions recorded before and after
the financial year end date with underlying sales
invoices and shipping documents to determine
whether the related revenue had been recognised in
the appropriate financial period; and

* inspecting underlying documentation for manual
journal entries relating to revenue which were
considered to meet specific risk-based criteria.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Key audit matters (Continued)

Recoverability of trade receivables

Refer to notes 14 and 21(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the accounting policies in notes 2(j) and 2(h).

The Key Audit Matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group’s major customers primarily include (i) toy
licensees or toy intermediaries based in Japan and the
US; and (i) various distributors of the Group’s imported
toys and own licensed toys in Hong Kong, Japan, the
US, Mainland China and Taiwan.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each customer.
Customers located in different jurisdictions are subject
to different local risks specific to those jurisdictions in
addition to the effects of the global economic climate.

Management assesses the level of allowance for doubtful
debts required at each reporting date after taking into
account the ageing analysis of trade receivables and any
other factors specific to individual debtors concerned
and a collective element based on historical experience
adjusted for certain current factors.

We identified the recoverability of trade receivables as
a key audit matter because of the significant degree
of management judgement involved in determining
the allowance for doubtful debts and because of the
significance of trade receivables to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Our audit procedures to assess the recoverability of trade
receivables included the following:

e  obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design, implementation and operating effectiveness
of key internal controls over the processes of credit
control, collection of trade receivables and follow up
of overdue balances;

e evaluating the Group’s policy for making allowances
for doubtful debts with reference to the requirements
of the prevailing accounting standards;

e assessing the classification of individual balances
in the trade receivables ageing report by
comparison with sales invoices and other underlying
documentation, on a sample basis;

e obtaining an understanding of the basis of
management’s judgements about the recoverability
of the material individual trade receivable balances
and evaluating the allowance for doubtful debts
made by management for these individual balances
with reference to the debtors’ financial condition,
the jurisdictions in which the debtors are operating,
the ageing of overdue balances, historical and
post year-end payment records and repayment
schedules agreed with specific debtors;

e  assessing the assumptions and estimates made by
management for the allowance for doubtful debts
calculated based on a collective assessment by
performing a retrospective review of the historical
accuracy of these estimates and recalculating the
Group’s allowance with reference to the Group’s
policy for collective assessment; and

° inspecting, on a sample basis, bank receipts
from customers and other relevant underlying
documentation subsequent to the financial year end
relating to trade receivable balances at 31 March
2018.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Information other than the consolidated financial statements and auditor’s
report thereon

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included in
the annual report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be commmunicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Yip Ka Ming, Alice.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

29 June 2018

54 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2018



BB R

BREMRELGS M BBRRARENETW

FREMEBIRS  EERERZESHR T BB EE  KEARH  EAFFERSE - @RESFNETPEAH
BRI i 2 AL eI B AHRPFE o

ELEERNEZZESRREN  HREFCNEAMB M HBAERERER - Y EMFIEESE AL SR HGR
REVETETHEIMZMABEMEMEIE  UREERZERT - B2 8 -

REEZZBGRBEZERT  EEREPLERHAPGEEUBBRR2BARAEE - AMBEKERENER -
EEEREMBETHAELER  RIPDERERTAFAARBEELER  RERKFERZBERT - MRAER
PEESFRETBBAFRENC AERRBEEL 2 ARG - BEFREMNEERSTEBZER -

HBAAB I BEN RS ETHE S AABESRHR -

EERGTHEERAT
BREET AT
EABPIR
EFTE105%

AT ARESE

—E-N\FARAZTIH

—T—)\F45R EREEERERAT DD



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GerREkEMEERE

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) % —

F-NF=H=1—HIFFELETIT)

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note $°000 $°000
Bi5E Fx Tt
Revenue & 4 132,025 136,888
Cost of sales SHERKA (95,733) (96,766)
Gross profit EF 36,292 40,122
Other net income HASA 5 3,962 2,187
Selling expenses HERX (4,358) (3,838)
Administrative expenses THRAX (12,440) (11,478)
Listing expenses aiilia b3 (4,068) (12,501)
Valuation gain on investment property &) GEW 11 1,500 1,360
Profit from operations KRR 20,888 15,852
Finance costs BhE KA 6(a) (118) (113)
Profit before taxation BRB AR 6 20,770 15,739
Income tax Fris®t 7(a) (3,860) (4,467)
Profit and total comprehensive FRRFRE2H RS
income for the year PR 16,910 11,272
Earnings per share for profit A BHEE AEAEFIN
attributable to owners of the BRER
Company
— Basic and diluted (in cents) — BEARREE(LAMLET) 10 2.25 1.50

The notes on pages 61 to 138 form parts of these financial
statements. Details of dividends payable to equity shareholders
attributable to the profit for the year are set out in note 20(e).

56 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2018

£
2
&

6125138 A MM AR X B I 15 R 1) — &6
o BB BINF N M B s

R EE20(€) °

BERHOB S FFE



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e IR R

At 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) i —ZF— /1= A =+—H (L ETIIR)

At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
Note $°000 $'000
BisE Tt Tt
Non-current assets FREBEE
Investment property KEYE 11 10,300 8,800
Property, plant and equipment Y%~ BB MR 11 15,085 14,147
Deferred tax assets BERITBE = 19(b) 23 21
25,408 22,968
Current assets RBEE
Inventories PEASS 13 1,726 2,937
Trade and other receivables 5 REMEWIE 14 35,947 26,782
Amounts due from shareholders JE U % BR SR IR 16 - —*
Amount due from a director Bl —REEHIE 16 - 2,678
Current tax recoverable AJUg B BN EATS 18 19(a) 1,671 =
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 15(a) 27,541 32,282
66,885 64,679
Current liabilities mEBE
Trade and other payables B 5 R EAMER IR 17 13,958 19,107
Bank loans RITER 18 6,582 6,731
Current tax payable FESTENEARN IR 19(a) 351 1,434
20,891 27,272
Net current assets REBEEZEE 45,99ﬁ 77777777777 3 7407 7
Total assets less current liabilites #EERASHAE 71,402 60,375

—T—)\F45R ERERERERAT D7



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRR

At 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) i’ —ZF— /14 = A =+—H (L ETI)R)

At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Note $°000 $°000
BisE T T
Non-current liabilities FRBERS
Deferred tax liabilies BREBRERE 1o 770 658
NET ASSETS BEEFE 70,632 59,722
Capital and reserves EXE#E
Share capital &z 20(b) —* =
Reserves (e 70,632 59,722
TOTAL EQUITY AR 70,632 59,722
* The balances represent amounts less than $1,000. * ZE B S ETZ1,0007T ©

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on  EZEGR T — \FRNAZ TN BHERKRE
29 June 2018. FIED -

LI Wai Keung TO Hoi Pan
XA R
Director Director
EF EF

The notes on pages 61 to 138 form part of these financial — $61% 51388 MM E4AR 2 S SRR A —5F
statements. 2o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AN T
GEEREEIX
For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 —

Ay

—NF=A="1—HILFE(LGETIIT)

Land and
buildings
Share  revaluation Merger Retained Total
Capital reserve reserve profits equity
T RET
BEA  EftfRE  AHRE  REEF wiER
Note $000 $000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Ptk T T T T T
(note 20(c))  (note 20(d))
GEZ )G EZI))
Balance at R-ZB-RF
1 April 2016 WA — BRI 129 1,242 - 51,079 52,450
Changes in equity for 2017: —Z—+EEXSE
Profit and total comprehensive 5 P Il J2 2 T I 26
income for the year FEk - - - 11,272 11,272
Arising from reorganisation REMAEAE (129) - 129 - -
Dividends declared FRAEERKE
during the year 20(e) - - - (4,000) (4,000)
Balance at 31 March 2017 R=—Z—+%=H
and 1 April 2017 =t-8k
b 2l 3
WA — B4R = 1,242 129 58,351 59,722
Changes in equity for 2018: =B— \FHXEH :
Profit and total comprehensive £ /s il e 2 28
income for the year ek - - - 16,910 16,910
Dividends declared FAEERKE
during the year 20(e) - - - (6,000) (6,000)
Balance at RZE-N\&
31 March 2018 ZRA=t—- AW = 1,242 129 69,261 70,632
* The balances represent amounts less than $1,000. * SRR 21,0007T ©

The notes on pages 61 to 138 form part of these financial

statements.
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CONSOLlDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
n‘/T\ IE@MLE%:Z

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) # % —ZF— \F= A=+ —H1FF/Z (L ETHIT)

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HILEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note $°000 $'000
BfaE Ft T
Operating activities REEE
Cash generated from operations REFTFIRE 15(b) 11,012 864
Hong Kong Profits tax paid ENEBFE (6,499) (7,450)
Net cash generated from/(used in) #&& EEFTE,(FiA)
operating activites Re@®E 4513 (6,586)
Investing activities REEH
Interest received BHFIE 182 53
Payment for the purchase of ﬁﬁﬁ S RIER
equipment, furniture and fixtures SN (4,339) (8,079)
Proceeds from the disposal of HERRAE f%’dﬁ ®E
equipment, furniture and fixtures FT{S T - 70
Net cash used in investing activities RRZBAMARSHER @157 (7,956
Financing activities MEEE
Capital element of finance lease ENmMEHEHESERNTD
rental paid - (126)
Repayment of bank loans ERIBITER 15(c) (149) (230)
Increase in amount due from a JEW — R EEFRIAE N
director (2,422) (3,146)
Dividends paid ERRE 20(e) (900) -
Listing expenses paid Bt EmAX (1,508) (1,588)
Interest paid ERFE 15(c) (118) (113
Net cash used in financing RMETEEFTARESFE
activities (5,097) (5,203)
Net decrease in cash and cash RERBESEEY
equivalents WA FRE (4,741) (19,745)
Cash and cash equivalents FHHREeRESEEY
at the beginning of the year 32,282 52,027
Cash and cash equivalents FERESREASEEY
at the end of the year 15(a) 27,541 32,282

The notes on pages 61 to 138 form part of these financial 61251388 W MIFEARRK % B T 3k oy — 31

statements.

D
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BAFE R MY RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 & #5855) » ¥ E T 517 )

1

General information

Amuse Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is a
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability under the Companies Law (as revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered
office is P.O. Box 1350, Clifton House, 75 Fort Street,
Grand Cayman, KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares were listed on the GEM of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 31 May 2018 (the
“Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (together referred to as the
“Group”) are principally engaged in design, marketing,
distribution and retail sales of toys and related products.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note
12 to the financial statements.

Significant accounting policies

(a) Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective
term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial
statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”). Significant
accounting policies adopted by the Group are
disclosed below.

1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

62

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance (Continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised
HKFRSs that are first effective or available for early
adoption for the current accounting period of the
Group. Note 2(c) provides information on any changes
in accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are relevant
to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2018 comprise the Company and its
subsidiaries.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that the investment property is stated at their fair value
as explained in note 2(e).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of policies and reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates
and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the financial

(©)

statements (Continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty
are discussed in note 3.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued several amendments
to HKFRSs that are first effective for the current
accounting period of the Group. None of these impact
on the accounting policies of the Group. However,
additional disclosure has been included in note 15(c) to
satisfy the new disclosure requirements introduced by
the amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of cash flows:
Disclosure initiative, which require entities to provide
disclosures that enable users of financial statements
to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing
activities, including both changes arising from cash
flows and non-cash changes.

The Group has not applied any new standard or
interpretation that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
(d) Subsidiaries

64

(e)

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the
entity and has the ability to affect those returns through
its power over the entity. When assessing whether the
Group has power, only substantive rights (held by the
Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows
and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment losses (see note 2(h)).

Investment property

Investment properties are land and/or buildings which
are owned or held under a leasehold or freehold
interest to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation.

Investment properties are stated at fair value. Any
gain or loss arising from a change in fair value or from
the retirement or disposal of an investment property
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss. Rental income from investment properties is
accounted for as described in the accounting policy
set out in note 2(q)(ii)-
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(e) Investment property (Continued)

(f)

When the Group holds a property interest under an
operating lease to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation in long term, the interest is classified
and accounted for as an investment property on a
property-by-property basis. Any such property interest
which has been classified as an investment property is
accounted for as if it were held under a finance lease,
and the same accounting policies are applied to that
interest as are applied to other investment properties
leased under finance leases.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
note 2(h)). Depreciation is calculated to write off the
cost of items of property, plant and equipment using
the straight-line method over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Leasehold land classified as held under finance
lease is depreciated over the unexpired term of
lease

— Building situated on leasehold land are
depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired
term of lease and their estimated useful lives

—  Leasehold improvements 5 years
—  Office equipment 5 years
—  Motor vehicles 30%

Shorter of the licensed
period of 2 to 3 years
or the remaining of
licensed period

- Moulds
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 & #5855/

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

66

(f)

(9)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Gain or loss arising from disposal or retirement
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or
disposal.

Both the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if
any, are reviewed annually.

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series
of transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group
determines that the arrangement conveys a right to
use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period of
time in return for a payment or a series of payments.
Such a determination is made based on an evaluation
of the substance of the arrangement and is regardless
of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of a
lease.

(i) Classification of assets leased to the
Group

Assets that are held by Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership are classified as being
held under finance leases. Leases which do not
transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership to the Group are classified as
operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(g) Leased assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Assets acquired under finance leases

Where the Group acquires the use of assets
under finance leases, the amounts representing
the fair value of the leased asset or, if lower, the
present value of the minimum lease payments, of
such assets are recognised as property, plant and
equipment and the corresponding liabilities, net
of finance charges, are recorded as obligations
under finance leases. Depreciation is provided
at rates which write off the cost or valuation of
the assets over the term of the relevant lease or,
where it is likely the Group will obtain ownership
of the asset, the life of the asset as set out in
note 2(f). Impairment losses are accounted for
in accordance with the accounting policy as set
out in note 2(h). Finance charges implicit in the
lease payments are charged to profit or loss over
the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge
on the remaining balance of the obligations for
each accounting period. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held
under operating leases, payments made under
the leases are charged to profit or loss in equal
instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative
basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the leased asset.
Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net
lease payments made. Contingent rentals are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period
in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (% 5 & #5995/

2

68

Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h) Impairment of assets
(i) Impairment of receivables

Current and non-current receivables that are
stated at cost or amortised cost are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to determine
whether there is objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment includes
observable data that comes to the attention of
the Group about one or more of the following loss
events:

— significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; and

— significant changes in the technological,

market, economic or legal environment that
have an adverse effect on the debtor.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&FH X @)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued) (h)y EEBEG@)
() Impairment of receivables (Continued) () FERGRIBREE)

If any such evidence exists, the impairment
loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at
the financial asset’s original effective interest
rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these assets), where the
effect of discounting is material. This assessment
is made collectively where these financial
assets share similar risk characteristics, such
as similar past due status, and have not been
individually assessed as impaired. Future cash
flows for financial assets which are assessed for
impairment collectively are based on historical
loss experience for assets with credit risk
characteristics similar to the collective group. If in
a subsequent period the amount of an impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be linked
objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised, the impairment
loss is reversed through profit and loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s
carrying amount exceeding that which would
have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

70

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

0)

Impairment of receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against
the corresponding assets directly, except
for impairment losses recognised in respect
of debtors included within debtors, other
receivables, deposits and prepayments, whose
recovery is considered doubtful but not remote.
In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful
debts are recorded using an allowance account.
When the Group is satisfied that recovery is
remote, the amount considered irrecoverable
is written off against debtors directly and any
amounts held in the allowance account relating
to that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries
of amounts previously charged to the allowance
account are reversed against the allowance
account. Other changes in the allowance account
and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period
to identify indications that the investments in
subsidiaries and property, plant and equipment
may be impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.

Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2018

HLETTAR)

2 FESTHER@®@
(h) EEBE@®E)

0)

FE W SR TR RUE ()
REEEE & EREEEME -
HEBL IR ~ H A EURRIA
BeRFANREMBRE 2 EK
FRIEERZBERBRE - ElkE
BRBERILIEBTE - ELLER
T RERZBEEBREBRER
FCER o s 75 5% [ HEE R A e (o0 1B
T BRSEARE L SEEH
BERWRIESD G - MERG
ABRERELER AR 2R
FRE - TR AR 25K
JRE RN E - RIBRERIAS I
BERTDRL - BER 2 e
BRAERKEIEAT RS
BN R T R o

HA & ERE

REEREHRBR NI RI
EBERITOR + LAY R AR MR
RARME - BELRRXEREE
ARERENITR « 3.2 B TR
ZREBBRED T BEENRA

REERD ©

EEEABRER LRIER - Al
ST EENAKESHE -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 & #5855/

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)
—  Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.
Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from
other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets
that generates cash inflows independently

(i.e. a cash-generating unit).

—  Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss if the carrying amount of an asset, or
the cash-generating unit to which it belongs,
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-
generating units are allocated to reduce the
carrying amount of the assets in the unit (or
group of units) on a pro rata basis, except
that the carrying value of an asset will not be
reduced below its individual fair value less
costs of disposal (if measurable) or value in

use (if determinable).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 =

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

72

(h) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)
—  Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to
the asset’s carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit
or loss in the year in which the reversals are
recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the weighted average cost
formula and comprises all costs of purchase and
other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their
present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.
The amount of any write-down of inventories to
net realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any
write-down of inventories is recognised as a reduction
in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense
in the period in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

0

(k)

()

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised
at fair value and thereafter stated at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less allowance for
impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(h)), except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made
to related parties without any fixed repayment terms
or the effect of discounting would be immaterial. In
such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less
allowance for impairment of doubtful debts.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially
at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing
borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and
redemption value being recognised in profit or loss
over the period of the borrowings, together with any
interest and fees payable, using the effective interest
method.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value, and are subsequently stated at amortised cost
unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at cost.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank
and on hand, demand deposits with banks having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management
are also included as a component of cash and cash
equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated cash
flow statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

74

(n)

(0)

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued
in the year in which the associated services are
rendered by employees. Where payment or settlement
is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets
and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except
to the extent that they relate to items recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the
taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their
tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from unused
tax losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 2 FE&FH X @)
(o) FriG#Hi (@)

(0) Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred
tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will
arise from the reversal of existing taxable temporary
differences, provided those differences relate to the
same taxation authority and the same taxable entity,
and are expected to reverse either in the same period
as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising
from the deferred tax asset can be carried back
or forward. The same criteria are adopted when
determining whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits,
that is, those differences are taken into account if they
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a period,
or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be
utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax
assets and liabilities are those temporary differences
arising from the initial recognition of assets or liabilities
that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit
(provided they are not part of a business combination),
and temporary differences relating to investments in
subsidiaries to the extent that, in the case of taxable
differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of
deductible differences, unless it is probable that they
will reverse in the future.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

76

(0) Income tax (Continued)

Where investment properties are carried at their fair
value in accordance with the accounting policy set out
in note 2(e), the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured using the tax rates that would apply on sale
of those assets at their carrying value at the reporting
date unless the property is depreciable and is held
within a business model whose objective is to consume
substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in
the property over time, rather than through sale. In all
other cases, the amount of deferred tax recognised is
measured based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets
and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(o)

(p)

Income tax (Continued)

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Group has
the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional
conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis,
or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected
to be settled or recovered, intend to realise
the current tax assets and settle the current
tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and
settle simultaneously.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of
uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a
past event, it is probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a
reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle the
obligation.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

78

(p)

(@)

Provisions and contingent liabilities
(Continued)

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable. Provided it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the
Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or
loss as follows:

() Sale of goods

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered
at the customers’ premises for domestic sales
or when goods are shipped on board for export
sales which is taken to be the point in time when
the customer has accepted the goods and the
related risks and rewards of ownership. Revenue
is after deduction of any trade discounts.
(i)  Rental income from operating leases
Rental income receivable under operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss in equal
instalments over the periods covered by the lease
term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be
derived from the use of the leased asset. Lease
incentives granted are recognised in the profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease
payments receivable.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(r

(s)

(t)

(i) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are
translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the
transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies and non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
that are stated at fair value are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting
period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred.

Related parties
(@)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

@iy is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s

parent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/5

7

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

80

(t) Related parties (Continued)

()

An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions applies:

U)

(i)

(iv)

(vil)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which the
other entity is a member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

(t)

(u)

Related parties (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in the financial statements,
are identified from the financial information provided
regularly to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of allocating resources
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments which
are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.

HLETTAR)

2 FESTHER®@

(t)

(u)

AR T (1)

HEZATHRENNRERB =M
MERERETISE - BHAES
TERANTEAERALTHENTERK

o

o

\

palsiE e

AEERTHRERTAEESIAE
A& {E i [ DA R 5HE F TR RIS &
E@EE  MERRLAEERS
RITHEEEBRHMEER - EL
ARt - AR EM SRR ERED

REDHBME—DHHEENEER °

@RI s BREANELD B TEHE
FITERE T TLAELR - BRIEELED B
BABENLBERE - MEREERM
RBEE - FERBEE - FEHE
SRR - AAD SHE MR RS
W EA R EERIRENIEE GRS
R(E RIS WIEBRERAEED
A A EXBE DR - AT REEARAX

—BEIIR °

—T—\&£% EREEERsRA7 81



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

3 Accounting judgements and estimates

82

Note 21 contains information about the Group’s risk
management policies. Other estimates and assumptions are
discussed below:

(a

(b)

Estimated useful lives of property, plant
and equipment

The Group estimates the useful lives of its property,
plant and equipment based on the periods cover
which the assets are expected to be available for use.
The Group reviews annually their estimated useful
lives, based on factors that include asset utilisation,
the expected physical wear and tear, environmental
factors and anticipated use of the assets tempered by
related industry benchmark information. It is possible
that future results of operation could be materially
affected by changes in these estimates brought about
by changes in factors mentioned. A reduction in the
estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment
would increase depreciation charges and decrease the
carrying amount of property, plant and equipment.

Impairment of assets

The Group assesses the impairment of assets in
accordance with the accounting policy set out in note
2(h). The factors that the Group considers important in
assessing the impairment include the following:

—  significant underperformance relative to expected
historical or projected future operating results;
and

—  significant negative industry or economic trends.

Negative changes in factors listed above will affect
profit or loss in future years.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )
4 Revenue and segment reporting 4 WHERDBHRSE
(@) Revenue (@) Wz

The principal activities of the Group are design,
marketing, distribution and retail sales of toys and
related products.

The Group’s revenue comprised the sales of Original
Design Manufacturing (“ODM”) toys to license holders,
sale of own licensed toys and distribution of imported
toys and is analysed by principal activities as follows:

AEBNERES AR - REKLHE
EMAMBRAER °

AEEWK S BEEERRRE
([ODMDITA FHRFFFBEA -~ HEB
REMARDHEOTA - WikE
ZEBEDAMWAT

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —F—+F

$°000 $'000

T F7

Sales of ODM toys to license holders ~ $4&E0DMIT A F4HFEFEHA A 87,175 83,888
Distribution of imported toys DiHEOITA 24,656 27,580
Sales of own licensed toys HEBXRETITA 20,194 25,420
132,025 136,888

The Group’s customers are primarily distributors based
in Japan. The percentage of revenue contributed by
the Group’s five largest customers for the year ended
31 March 2018 amounted to approximately 78%
(2017: 78%). Further details regarding the Group’s
principal activities are disclosed below.

AEBNEFETEASBADERE - &
2 N\F=ZA=1+—HILFEHX
TEBAARFEEMNEZED LA
B78%(—ZF—+EF : 78%) - B
AEBEZFHHEZFBEN T

= o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (/5

7

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued)

84

(a) Revenue (Continued)

The Group manages its business by three divisions,
namely sale of ODM toys, sale of own licensed
toys and distribution of imported toys. In a manner
consistent with the way in which information is reported
internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment, the Group has identified
the following three reportable segments. No operating
segments have been aggregated to form the following
reportable segments.

For the purpose of assessing segment performance
and allocating resources between segments, the
Group’s senior executive management monitors the
results based on the revenue and expenses which are
allocated to the reportable segments with reference
to revenue generated by those segments and the
expenses incurred by those segments or which
otherwise arise from the depreciation or amortisation
of assets attributable to those segments.

Segment assets, segment liabilities and other segment
information is not reported or used by the Group’s
most senior executive management.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued) 4 Y& 2 SP8& (@)

(a) Revenue (Continued) (@) Wz
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments HE_ZT—N\Fk=ZZT—+tF=H
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive =t+—HLFE BOoEBEEREDE
management for the purposes of resource allocation KA ERAEBR RS THERER
and assessment of segment performance for the year HEBAEET 2R D EBHERDIH
ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 is set out below. N
Distribution of Sales of
Sales of ODM toys imported toys own licensed toys Total
#EODMIA box 5 a7 HERFHINA a5t

Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March Year ended 31 March
BE-A-t-HLEE BE=A-t-HLEE  BE=ACt-BLFE  BESA=T-BLFRE
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
F-\F BAF ZR\E R LF ZRNE R SR TR
$000 $000 $000 $1000 $000 $1000 $000 $000
i T Tr T Tn T Tn T

Revenue fromexternal ~ AMEFIE
customers 87,175 83,888 24,656 27,580 20,194 25420 132,025 136,888
Inter-segment revenue PHREkE - - 5,144 6,457 13,546 16,448 18,690 21,905

Reportable segment revenue 1 22 87,175 83,868 29,800 34,087 33,740 40868 150,715 158793

Reportable segment proft (2 HAF&F| 11,500 10634 3474 5,574 4520 8598 19,494 24,806

Depreciation for the year ~ ERE 522 606 39 66 2,840 429 3401 4,968

—T—\E£R EREEERERAT 85



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued) 4 Y& 2 2P (@)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment (b) 7T 25 =B FI¥ AR
profit

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=t+—RHILLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\EFE —E—tF
$°000 $000
T Fr
Profit aF
Reportable segment profit derived TR E NI P /Y
from the Group’s external A 23R 500 Al
customers 19,494 24,806
Other net income EAFUA 3,962 2,187
Listing expenses EmHX (4,068) (12,501)
Finance costs BhE R A (118) (113)
Valuation gain on investment property 1% & ¥ 2 E MR 1,500 1,360
Consolidated profit before taxation 4R A BRTR A& A 20,770 15,739
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued) 4 Y& 2 SP8& (@)

(c) Geographic information (c) HwEER
The following table sets out information about the TRANE A () HESEODMITE : (i)D
geographic location of (i) sale of ODM toys, (ii) SHAE O IT A K (i) 355 B KT I &/
distribution of imported toys and (iii) sale of own @ &R o REMEHE HIREE M
licensed toys. The geographical location of customers RAITHIER T E ©
is based on the location at which the goods were
delivered.

Revenue from external customers

SR E 2R
Year ended 31 March

BEZE=A=1t—HILEE

2018 2017
—EB-N\F —EF—+F

$°000 $°000

T 7T

Hong Kong (place of domicile) BEER) 21,880 ¢ 22,896
Japan H 7 89,510 85,396
The United States e 1,763 5,968
Mainland China R A 6,529 10,622
Others Hih 12,343 12,006
] 110,145 113,992

132,025 136,888
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

4 WHEKDEE®E @)
d) EEEFMNER

FRHEREBREE10%N TP A
@mAFAT

4 Revenue and segment reporting (Continued)

(d) Information about major customers

Revenue from customers during the year contributing
over 10% of the Group’s revenue are as follows:

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+tF
$°000 $'000
Frx Tt
Group’s largest customer AEEZAEP 89,510 85,396
5 Other netincome 5 HEWA
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
$°000 $000
Frx T
Bank interest income RITHEHA 182 53
Net exchange gain/(loss) bE H Was (E518 ) F 58 1,644 (402)
Gain on disposal on property, HEYE - BEMEBERE
plant and equipment - 70
Rental income HeUA 240 60
Freight charge income BEBBIA 786 397
Management fee income EEBEIA 1,093 1,561
Sundry income ESIETGN 17 448
3,962 2,187
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

6 Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is arrived at after charging:

6 PBRBLAT®A
B BUATR R DA A T SRR R -

Year ended 31 March
BZ=A=1+—RHILLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
$°000 $000
T F7
(a) Finance costs S %
Interest on bank loan and overdrafts IRITER BB
(note 15(c)) (K1:E15(c)) 118 111
Interest on finance lease BERER S - 2
118 113
(b) Staff costs BIRAE
Salaries, wages and other benefits e TERHEAMBREF 5,244 4,461
Contributions to defined TE B RURIRET B X
contributions retirement plans 234 204
5,478 4,665
(c) Otheritems Hithg g
Depreciation of property, plant and Y% - WEMEETE
equipment 3,401 4,968
Auditors’ remuneration ZE AN & 780 771
Operating lease charges for land THREFREEEER
and buildings 1,077 1,197
Impairment losses on trade and B 5 Kk E At R GRIBRE
other receivables 18 98 =
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B Rk 2R
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)
7 Income tax in the consolidated 7 ZEBEsRHMEZEKERR
statement of profit or loss and other W Fr S8t
comprehensive income
(@) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit or loss @ #HFeEmkEMmEERERANTTIE
and other comprehensive income represents: 15 :

90

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLEFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F T tF
$°000 $000
Frx Frx
Current tax - Hong Kong Profits Tax BEIHi$iE - B FIEH
Provision for the year FNEE 3,708 4,912
Under/(over)-provision in respect of BEFERETR
prior years (HEgER ) 37 (170)
3,745 4,742
Deferred tax ELERIE
Origination and reversal of temporary £ M= 2 7 & 4 I B[l
differences 115 (275)
3,860 4,467

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2018 is
calculated at 16.5% (2017: 16.5%) of the estimated
assessable profits for the year.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

7 Income tax in the consolidated 7 GZeBERREMEERERA
statement of profit or loss and other Y FR 5% ()
comprehensive income (Continued)
(b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting () FIEHATERERREGENSE
profit at applicable tax rates: SR BRI

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017

—E-N\E —E—tF

$’000 $°000

T F7

Profit before taxation B A A 20,770 15,739
Notional tax on profit before taxation, % Bl Fl-2 &EF7 - LR
calculated at the rates applicable to  a)JARER Y% A28 B i &

profits in the jurisdictions concerned 5t & 4,313 4,894

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 1~ a] F1%: 5 5k KB i 2 & 137 50

Tax effect of non-taxable income BEF R AR SR 2 (480) (235)

Under/(over)-provision in prior years @A FEEE TR,

(EREER ) 37 (170)

Others Hit (147) (72)

Actual tax expense ERHERS 3,860 4,467
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B RS R R My aE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} » 945 T 517 )
8 Directors’ emoluments 8 EEM=
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed pursuant to section RIEEB A aMEAIZE383(1) kAR (HE
383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 EZNZER)RPIFE EEMEHE
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits N
of Directors) Regulation are as follows:
Salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits Discretionary scheme
in kind bonuses contributions Total
e 2HR IR
BEUEF B EIE4AL TR #gt
$000 $000 $000 $000
F T T T
2018 —E-N\F
Executive directors HITEF
Mr. Li Wai Keung S 1,458 - 18 1,476
Mr. To Hoi Pan (note (i) BB S & (fTE ) 596 - 18 614
Ms. Lee Kwai Fong (note (i) ~ ZHEFS L (Hat(i) 339 40 16 395
2,393 40 52 2,485
2017 —EB—tF
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Li Wai Keung FEWELE 1,090 - 18 1,108
Mr. To Hoi Pan ANy e
(appointed on 26 January (RZE—tF
2017) (note (i) —A=+"A
R (H130) 585 = 18 603
Ms. Lee Kwai Fong FEFZT
(appointed on 2 March 2017)  (RZ=Z—+%&
(note (ii)) —A-REZRT)
(K1) 326 50 16 392
2,001 50 52 2,103
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (555

8

o]

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

0

(i

(i)

)

During the year, there was no amount paid or payable by the Group
to the directors or any of the five highest paid individuals as set out in
note 9 below as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. And, there was no arrangement under
which a director has waived or agreed to waive any emolument during
the year.

Mr. To Hoi Pan is also the chief financial officer of the Group, his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by
him before appointment as the executive director. The basic salaries,
allowances and benefits in kind, discretionary bonuses and retirement
scheme contributions for services rendered by him before appointment
as the executive director were $486,000, $Nil and $15,000 for the year
ended 31 March 2017.

Ms. Lee Kwai Fong is also the general manager of the Group, her
emoluments disclosed above included those for services rendered by
her before appointment as the executive director. The basic salaries,
allowances and benefits in kind, discretionary bonuses and retirement
scheme contributions for services rendered by her before appointment
as the executive director were $305,000, $46,000 and $14,000 for the
year ended 31 March 2017.

The Company did not have any share option scheme for the purchase
of ordinary shares in the Company during the year.

HIEEASN

B ETTI )

8 EEMEw@

ikt -
0

(i

(i)

)

WER - AR 7 E R KA A& = 5
A (0T T FEQ P ) S A5 ok FE AN 45 S5 AT 3K
B AERIAARSKEREE Sk BERimE - 5%
NEANRBEEEHRCXRERREMNHENR
B

MR EMARNEEB EE - 78 ESUHEBAT
SEZ NG BIERER T AR TESATRERTIR
HE RSO E - BREZEANTESAIGER
RENREMESHERT S - 20 - EWE
o BBETEARRRTERFBE-S—tF=
A=+—HI-%FE %486,0007T * T K% 15,000
=c

FEFZTNMAREERERE - £ ERESF
ZEZHEBEREZTARNITEEMGREN
RENREOHE - REZETRATESAH
HATRENREMESNERT S 20 BEY
B - BB KRR BIRFEBE S —+F
= A=1+—H1LFEA305,00075T * 46,0007 &
14,0007T °

FRAR R AT B HBEAR R
R -

—T—)\FEH EREEppaRan 93



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

9 Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EEFMAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, RAZGERFMATES  =R(ZF—t
three (2017: three), are directors whose emoluments are F = R)EENHRKIESEE - AT
disclosed in note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments BBTME(ZE—+EF - MB) ATHE
in respect of the other two (2017: two) individuals are as [ECEEE
follows:

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—HLFE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—tF
$°000 $000
Fr T
Salaries and other emoluments e RHAMM S 701 688
Discretionary bonuses B TEAT 60 80
Retirement scheme contributions RIREHEIER R 32 32
793 800

The emoluments of the two (2017: two) individuals with the ME(ZZE—tF : MB)mma A LTH

highest emoluments are within the following band: HMNELATEE A -

Year ended 31 March
BE=RA=1+—HLEE

2018 2017

—EB-N\F —F—tF

$000 $000

Tt T

Number of Number of

individual individual

A ABL

HKS$Nil-HK$1,000,000 LT 21,000,00075 7T 2 2
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BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

10 SRER

10 Earnings per share

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on
the profit attributable to ordinary equity shareholders of
the Company of $16,910,000 (2017: $11,272,000) and
weighted average of 750,000,000 ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: 750,000,000
shares).

The weighted average number of ordinary shares is
calculated as follows:

BEREABFDIREHE-_FT—N\F=
A=+ HIEFEAAREBERRKRE
JiE {5 3% F116,910,000 7T ( = & — + 4 :
11,272,0007T) & B #17 & @A INAE F 19 2K
750,000,000/% (== —+4F : 750,000,000
BRETE o

BB T EI T

At 31 March
R=A=+—8H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+tF
Issuance of shares upon incorporation e S 18 21T D 10,000 10,000
Issuance of shares on 7 March 2017 RZZT—+F=AERAET
R4 10,000 10,000
Capitalisation issue on 31 May 2018 RZZE—NFRA=+—H
BT 749,980,000 749,980,000
Weighted average number of shares in B Z1TAD IIREF 158
issue 750,000,000 750,000,000

The Company was incorporated on 16 November 2016
with initial capital of 10,000 shares, and subsequently issued
and allotted 10,000 shares on 7 March 2017 (note 20(b)
(ii). In order to present a meaningful earnings per share, the
above 20,000 shares are regarded as if they have been in
issue since 1 April 2016. The capitalisation took place on
31 May 2018 (note 25(a)) is deemed to be completed on 1
April 2016 and the weighted average number of shares in
2018 and 2017 have been adjusted accordingly. There was
no difference between basic and diluted earnings per share
as the Company did not have any dilutive potential shares
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2018 and
2017.

AARRZZE—R"EFE+—A+NBiEfk
S/ P E4T10,000 X MIIARE A - REEB K=
T—+F = A+ HE17 &A% 10,0000 /%
5 (KizE20()i) - A< 2 EBREFAEF
B F 0 Lt 20,0000% A% 1 4 48 1B R 0 &
BT NFNF—HEEET R-Z
—\FERA=1T—BEFTZERN(M=E
25(a)) WAAEN — T —/NEM A — B XK
MR —ZE—N\FEN T —+F 2 RH M
FHHEFRERAE - HRARRRER
- \FER-E—+tF=A=+—AHLt
FEWEA(IBRITEINZ BEESRD
SREARHEERF W EER o
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BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

11 Investment property and other property, 11 REYEREMYE BER

plant and equipment B3]
Leasehold
landand  Leasehold Office Motor Investment
buildings improvements  equipment vehicles Moulds Sub-total property Total
HELHRET HERE  BOZRG hE i gt RENE &t
$000 $1000 $000 $1000 $000 $000 $1000 $000
T T T T v T v T
Cost or valuation: RAGHE
At1 April 2016 RZF-75MA-A 8,365 817 402 1,350 5,546 16,480 7440 23,920
Addtions HE 5423 48 49 - 2,559 8,079 - 8,079
Disposals i - - - (363) - (363) - (363)
Gain on revaluation E - - - - - - 12360 1360
At 31 March 2017 RZE-t£=f=1-A 13,788 865 451 987 8,106 24,19 8,800 32,99
At 1 Aprl 2017 RZF-+5MA-A 13,788 865 451 97 8,105 24,1% 8,800 32,9%
Addttions HE - 124 101 - 4114 4,339 - 4339
(Gain on revaluation E - - - - - - 1500 1,500
At 31 March 2018 RZF-\E=A=1-A 13,788 989 562 987 12,219 28,535 10,300 38,835
Accumulated depreciation: iR
At1 April 2016 RZ5—"EMA-A 1,287 572 199 881 2,555 5,444 - 5,444
Charge for the year ik 194 167 60 29 4,261 4,968 - 4968
Written back on disposals HERER - - - (363) - (363) = (369)
At31 March 2017 RZE-t¥=A=1-8 1,431 729 259 814 6,816 10049 - 10,049
At 1 Aprl 2017 RZE-t5MA-A 1431 729 259 814 6,816 10049 - 10049
Charge for the year Efik 25 114 70 173 2759 3401 - 3401
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=1-A 1,716 843 329 987 9,575 13,450 - 13,450
Net book value: BEFE:
At 31 March 2018 RZE-\E=A=1-A 12,072 146 223 - 2,644 16,085 10,300 25,385
At 31 March 2017 RZE-tE=fA=1-A 12,357 136 192 173 1,089 14,147 8,800 22,947
Note: At 31 March 2018, the Group’s investment property and leasehold Wi M—_E—NEFE=A=+—H LEEEALS

land and building with an aggregate carrying value of $17,075,000
(2017: $15,752,000) were mortgaged to secure banking facilities
granted to the Group.

17,075,000 (=F—+4F : 15,752,0007T) A4
EEREYMERAET W REFE FRIE - UK
BALBEEERFITRE
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B R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (% 5 & #5995/

11 Investment property and other property,
plant and equipment (Continued)

(a) Assets held under finance leases

The Group leased motor vehicles under finance leases
expired during the year ended 31 March 2017. None
of the leases included contingent rentals.

(b) Fair value measurement of property

() Fair
The

value hierarchy

fair value measurement of the Group’s

investment property at the end of the reporting
period on a recurring basis is categorised into
the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in
HKFRS 13, Fair value measurement. The level
into which a fair value measurement is classified is
determined with reference to the observability and
significance of the inputs used in the valuation
technique as follows:

Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using
only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities at the measurement date.

Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using
Level 2 inputs i.e. observable inputs which
fail to meet Level 1, and not using significant
unobservable inputs. Unobservable inputs
are inputs for which market data are not
available.

Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using
significant unobservable inputs.

B ETTST)

11 REYEREMYE  BER

Bia-10 )

(a) ZMEHEERANEE
AEEZRERERANSEDRE
=T +E=A=+-AILEER
o EMEaERATES -

(o) MM AFENE
() AFEER
AEBREMERREPRRE
REEENAVEFENERE
MRS ERIE 3R A FER
EBREEN=ERHNAEE
Ao NHERENRERRBUR
R AR T oI AR R # A B
BORBREENERT

- FAMEE:ERAE-&
BABE(AEREESE
BEABMSHRAER
MARABERE) BERF
o

- F-AMEE:ERAE-R
B A BIR (BIREBER &
F—RANATBRBHAK
) MAMEREARNHA
BEMNBBAEAFE-
LIR30 € DLE:P7N:)
BHSEMZEE -

- F=ZAMLE: EZAEKRT

THE B AR EA
FHE -

—T—\E£R EREEERsRAT 97
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (% 5 & #5995/

11

98

B ETTST)

Investment property and other property, 11 REVERHEMYE  BER

plant and equipment (Continued) Biai-16 )

(b) Fair value measurement of property (b) MENAFEFTE @
(Continued)
() Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ) AHERBRE

The investment property was revalued at 31
March 2018 by an independent firm of surveyors,
BMI Appraisals Limited. They have staff with
recognised professional qualifications and
relevant experience in the location and category
of investment properties being revalued. The
Company’s management has discussion with
the surveyors on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed
at the end of the reporting period.

At 31 March 2018 and 2017, the Group’s
investment property falls into Level 3 of the fair
value hierarchy as described above.

BREMER_T—NF=A
=t+— Al ABLREMTH
MABBRFEERAREHGE ©
ZENTBERBRAIEXER
KRR EHEIRE Y R0 E KA
HEHRBELR - ARFREERER
AR B R (4 (B e R B B8] 2 A
LA ERE R GEEERETH

=A
af ©

R-B-N\FR-_ZT—+F=A
=t+t—RB AKEMREREY
FHBR EXAFHEERNE=
Ao

(i) Information about Level 3 fair value iy FE=FRFEFAENER
measurements
Location of properties Valuation techniques Unobservable input Range
nELY hER TIBZGAYE &E
Hong Kong — Commercial Direct comparison (Discount)/premium 31 March 2018: (2.2%) to 4.3%
property approach on quality of the buildings  =E—\E=A=1—H : (2.2%)%4.3%
BE-TENE HEEE BTER(R)/HE 31 March 2017: (3.9%) to 7.8%

The fair values of investment property located
in Hong Kong are determined by using direct
comparison approach with reference to the
market price of comparable properties and
adjusted for building quality and timing of the
reference transactions. Higher premium for
investment property will result in a higher fair value
measurement.

Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

11 Investment property and other property, 11 REYEREMYE BER

plant and equipment (Continued) =& @

(c) Asset leased out under operating lease (c) RERLHEHMEANEE
The Group leases out investment property under AEBERBECEHEHHIREME -
operating lease. The lease typically run for an initial ZEHERY—MAERE - EA R
period of 2 years, with an option to renew the lease ZARRESEEHENENEEAA
after that date at which time all terms are renegotiated. Bk - HEW TBEXAHEE -

The lease does not include contingent rentals.

The property held under operating lease that would BIEKEHERENBSTESIEEY
otherwise meet the definition of investment property is EEENYEES A AREYE -
classified as investment property.

Total future minimum lease payments under non- TRIEGH A B ETE T AR R R KK
cancellable operating lease are receivable as follows: TAE FREARE R DA T BRFEURCER. -
At 31 March
R=A=+—AH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—t5F
$°000 $000
T3 T
Within 1 year —FR 20 187

—T—\&£R EReEERsRA7T 99
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BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 & #5855/
12 RTB R RINKRE

TREJIAEBOHBRRFE - BRE
Fash - PR BRI IR R e B aBAx -

LB T AR )

12 Investments in subsidiaries

The following list contains the particulars of subsidiaries
of the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

Proportion of ownership interest

BEEERLA
Place of Group’s
incorporationand  Particulars of issued effective Held by Held by
Name of company business and paid up capital interest the company  a subsidiary Principal activity
BRORARKRE KEEH HNEAR
DRER EMAIRERBE FE BERER mALNERE BE TEEE
Amuse Intemational British Virgin Islands 20,000 shares of 100% 100% - Investment holding
Investment Limited REABRES US$1 each REER
BERERREARAH 20,000 &R EE
1= R iR
Bestone Creative Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% = 100% Design and sale of toys and
Development Limited &b 10,0008 7 related products
BREIBERARAF Rt RHETAERER
Sentinel International Hong Kong 12,000 shares 100% = 100% Design and sale of toys and
Co., Limited BE 12,0008 (7 related products
TERERARAR Rt RHETA KA
Lai Ga Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% = 100% Design and sale of toys and
BETABRAR it 10,0008 %13 related products
Rt RHETA AR
D4 Toys Co., Limited Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% = 100% Sale and marketing of toys
3 10,0008 17 HEREHEMA
Moon One Toys Co., Limited ~ Hong Kong 10,000 shares 100% - 100% Sale and marketing of toys
R—mEERRA &R 10,0008k 7 HERSHEIA
D4 Toys (oversea) Co., Ltd British Virgin Islands 50,000 shares of 100% - 100% Dormant
RELARES US$1 each DEEH
50,0005 &R EE
1= R MR
Sentinel International (US) The United States 1 share of US$1 100% - 100% Dormant
Company Limited e 1REEIET RN IS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

13 Inventories

(@ Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial
position comprise:

13 7K
@ REAIERRERNZFEOHE

At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\EFE —EF—tF
$°000 $'000
T F7
Merchandise held for sale FEEEEm 1,726 2,937

(b) The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised

b) ERAAXRFABZNEFESHED

as an expense and included in the profit or loss is as MHNEAT -
follows:
At 31 March
R=BA=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\#F T —+F
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Carrying amount of inventories sold B2 & ZEEE 95,307 96,766
Write down of inventories FEMR 426 -
95,733 96,766
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} » 945 T 517 )

14 Trade and other receivables 14 EZ R HEHMEKRIE
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\E —E—+F
$°000 $000
Fr Tt
Trade receivables Z 5 IR 17,712 13,357
Less: allowances for doubtful debts o REREAE (BT EE14(0))
(note 14(b)) (98) =
17,614 13,357
Other receivables H fth e GRIE 3,675 2,885
Deposits and prepayments e RIBRIE 14,658 10,540
35,947 26,782
Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables are STATERFIE - Ee Rk E A E R GRIE
amounts of $319,000 (2017: $136,000) which are expected 319,0007T( =& —+4F : 136,0007T) #) &
to be recovered after more than one year. KRR B R ER R — SR 1R IR [E] ©
Apart from the above, all of the prepayments, deposits Br EXCATit - FTETERGRIE - 12E R HAM
and other receivables are expected to be recovered or JEMFIATE BN —F NI EI S FER B ©
recognised as expenses within one year.
(a) Ageing analysis (@) ERERDHT
Included in debtors, deposits and prepayments are B 5 &AM W ARTE (FOFR RAER )
trade and other debtors (net of allowance for doubtful STARIRERIE « e MTENFIE - B
debts) with the following ageing analysis, based on the RS EARBIRZE R A AR DT
invoice date, as of the end of the reporting period: N
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\EF —E—+F
$000 $000
Fr F7T
Less than 30 days DHB0H 12,430 10,341
31 to 60 days 31Z260H 1,878 160
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,903 985
Over 91 days HiBo1 H 1,403 1,871
17,614 13,357
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BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

14 B 5 Kk H i EWRFIE @)
(b) EZEWRERE

14 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(b) Impairment of trade debtors

Impairment losses in respect of trade and other
debtors are recorded using an allowance account
unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of the
amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is
written off against trade and other debtors directly (see
note 2(h)(i)).

The movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

EBE S K& H A EWERTE 2 R EE B
TyfE AR HERR e - HEAE B EHIK
Bl 5k I8 2 A BE AR BR HN - PRAEZIB R
T REEEEERE S REMmEYK
BRIBMIBR (RBIEE2(N)()) °

FR - RERE(2EERN R KRS

during the year, including both specific and collective BED ) WEBAT
loss components, is as follows:

2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
$°000 $000
T Tt
At 1 April REA—H - =
Impairment loss recognised BRERZRERE 98 =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 98 -

At 31 March 2018, trade debtors of $180,000 (2017:
$Nil) were individually determined to be impaired. The
individually impaired receivables related to customers
that were in financial difficulties and management
assessed that only a portion of the receivables is
expected to be recovered. Consequently, specific
allowances for doubtful debts of $98,000 (2017: $Nil)
were recognised.

R-ZE—NE=ZA=+—"H &5
JiE U BR 18 180,000 70 ( = & — 4 -
Zor) BRI EE BRE - @RIRE
HERZIBEBAMIERENTEE
B EREENGTEHERE IS E
WEIE - At - R ERREEEG
98,000L(ZZF—+4F : Tjr) ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

14 BE 5 Kk H i EWRFIE @)
(c) BREZEZEWRIE

14 Trade and other receivables (Continued)

(c) Trade receivables that are not impaired

The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are
neither individually nor collectively considered to be
impaired are as follows:

BUEER R AR R IERENE 5 &
WORTRRRER AT SIS AT

At 31 March
R=BA=+—H
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —F—+F
$°000 $000
¥ T
Neither past due nor impaired - L 14,107 B 10,168
Less than 30 days past due B HI D80 H 2,081 172
31 to 60 days past due BHAZ1Z=60H 1,000 1,009
61 to 90 days past due #HI61E90H 61 282
Over 91 days past due B HAR A1 H 283 1,731
e e 3426 3,194
17,532 13,357

Trade debtors that were neither past due nor impaired
relate to a wide range of customers for whom there
was no recent history of default.

Trade debtors that were past due but not impaired
relate to a number of independent customers that have
a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality
and the balances are still considered fully recoverable.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances. Further details on the Group’s credit policy
are set out in note 21(a).
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B R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

15 Cash and cash equivalents

(@ Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

15 RERBSEEY
@ ReRALZENEHE

At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Cash at bank and on hand IRITRFHEIRE 27,541 32,282

(b) Reconciliation of profit before taxation to cash

generated from operations:

b) FRFEATEN BEEMFREHER :

Year ended 31 March
HE=-A=t—-RLEE

2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—+F
Note $000 $000
i3 T T
Profit before taxation BR A AT A 20,770 15,739
Adjustments for: AT RIEAR
Depreciation e 6(c) 3,401 4,968
Interest income from bank deposits RITFRFEUA 5 (182) (53)
Interest expenses on borrowings fERH B 6(a) 118 113
Valuation gain on investment REWMFMERS
property (1,500) (1,360)
Gain on disposal of property, plant HEME  BEK
and equipment R 5 - (70)
22,607 19,337
Changes in working capital: EEESEE)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FERD,/(38m) 1,211 (1,472)
Increase in trade and other B 5 REMFER
receivables FIRE NN (8,666) (8,045)
Decrease in trade and other B 5 R EM IR
payables A (4,140) (8,956)
Cash generated from operations REmBES 11,012 864
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15 Cash and cash equivalents (Continued) 15 ReRREEEY @
(©) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () BMBEIMELEBEBEMNEER
activities:
Bank loans
RITEN
$000
T
At 1 April 2017 R-E—tFMA—H 6,731
Changes from financing cash flows: RMERSREH
Repayment of bank loans EERITER (149)
Interest paid EAFLE (118)
Total changes from financing cash flows MERESREE B4R (267)
Other change: HAihS g :
Interest expenses on borrowings (note 6(a)) B F B (Mi7E6(@) 118
Total other change Hib BB aEH 118
At 31 March 2018 R=Z-N\F=A=+—H 6,582
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

16 BR—BESERKRRFNEA

16 Amounts due from a director and

shareholders

Amount due from a director of the Group is as follows:

FERAEE —2ERFIRWT ¢

Name of borrower Mr. Li Wai Keung fEALTE FEREAE

Position Director s =

Lender The Company EHA ViNG]

Terms of the loan BER

- Duration and repayment terms Repayable on demand — HRR B RIE R REREEE

— Interest rate Nil —58 i

- Security None — i

Balance of the loan B

- 31 March 2018 $SNil - T \5=H=+—H T

- 31 March 2017 $2,678,000 ——F—tH=-H=1—H 2,678,0007T

-1 April 2016 $3,532,000 ——E—"FmA—H 3,532,0007T

Maximum balance outstanding BmABREHR

— During the year ended $6,574,000 -HE_Z-\F 6,574,0007T
31 March 2018 ZA=T-BHLEEFE

- During the year ended $11,569,000 —BEZZ—+F 11,569,0007T
31 March 2017 ZA=+—HLEFE

Provision at 31 March 2018 $Nil RZZ—N\%F e

—A=+—HMEE
Provision at 31 March 2017 SNl RZT—+F T
ZA=+—BMEE

The above loan was in the form of current accounts. The
amounts due from a director and shareholders were non-
trade in nature, unsecured, interest-free and expected to be

settled within one year.

FRERBERBRER - BR—RES
RERFERFESEE - BER - 28

RIGHE— P -
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BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

17 Trade and other payables 17 ES R HMENSRIE
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—B-N\F —E—tF
$°000 $000
Fr T
Trade payables Z SR FIR 2,893 5,815
Deposit received BiuES 1,213 2,557
Other payables and accrued expenses — E-fth B FRIE K BT X 9,852 10,735
13,958 19,107
Ageing analysis SRR 0 AT
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis REFEHIK - BIERZEQENE ZEN
of trade payables (which are included in trade and other 15 (3t A B 5 K& E b fE{S 2018 BE#A 5 4T 10
payables), based on the invoice date, is as follows: T
At 31 March
R=A=+—AH
2018 2017
—E-N\F —T—tF
$°000 $000
T +t
Less than 30 days LR30H 1,819 1,369
31 to 60 days 31£60H 340 260
61 to 90 days 61%290H 366 56
Over 91 days but within one year A1 BER—FA 368 4,130
2,893 5,815
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5855 - LT )

18 Bank loans 18 RITER
At 31 March 2018, the bank loans were repayable as RZEBE—N\F=A=+—8 ' RITEFKA
follows: HzTKFfr HEE -
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
$’000 $°000
Fr T
Portion of mortgage loan from bank AR —FNEENRITIZS
__Tepayable within Tyear B&2 232 N =
Portion of mortgage loan from bank AR —FIREENRITIZG
due for repayment after 1 year which EREHS - RBEREKRER
contains a repayable on demand FS
clause
— after 1 year but within 2 years ——FREMFAN 237 234
— after 2 years but within 5 years —MFBRERFAN 736 726
— after 5 years —hF% 5,377 5,541
6,350 I 6,501
Total bank loans IRITE AR 6,582 6,731
As 31 March 2018, the bank loans are secured by A—_E—NF=ZA=+—8" fE B%
mortgages over investment property and leasehold land and VABR M #21817,075,00070 ( — & t$ :
buildings with an aggregate carrying value of $17,075,000 15,752,0007T ) IR EMEREE T K&
(2017: $15,752,000) with the director, Mr. Li Wai Keung’s FHIZEERE S E R T EMEAER
personal guarantee. The personal guarantee given by the BT - ESFE THREABRBERAE
director will be released before the listing of the Group on BN EBEE R ZMER LD FIGEM_ LA
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. fRER o
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B iRk MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

19 Income tax in the consolidated 19 AREMBEMRR RSB
statement of financial position

(@) Current taxation in the consolidated statement of @ #fFEMBIRRKARNEITIESS
financial position represents:

At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—B-N\F —F—tF
$’000 $°000
F T
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax A& S FISH
for the year B 3,708 4,912
Provisional Profits Tax paid ENERFEE (5,028) (3,478)
(1,320) 1,434
Representing: Rk :
Current tax recoverable AT UK [ BN EATR IE (1,671) -
Current tax payable FESTRNERER IE 351 1,434
(1,320) 1,434
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B R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (

19 Income tax in the consolidated
statement of financial position (Continued)

(b) Deferred tax assets/liabilities recognised:

o]

K73

The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position and the movements during the year are as

follows:

BIERS) - L ETTIT)

19 LGREB AR R EH @)

(b)) DHERELHRBEE BE :

PAERAEIRE - AR E

IR

NERRBLEHIR(BE) /BEHS

Depreciation

allowances
in excess Future
of related benefit of
depreciation tax losses Total
TEEEEY HBERZ
HERFE REF & st
$'000 $'000 $'000
T T TIT
Deferred tax arising from: IEZEFIERRN :
At 1 April 2016 RZE—RF
mA—A 956 (49) 907
(Credited)/charged to RérE 18 L EAM
consolidated statement FHKEE
of profit or loss and other (Bt A), /g
comprehensive income (824) 49 (275)
At 31 March 2017 and R-T—+fF
1 April 2017 —A=+—Hk
—E—+F
mA—HA 632 - 632
Charged to consolidated RéRE 18 R EAM
statement of profit or loss 2HEWEF NG
and other comprehensive
income 115 = 115
At 31 March 2018 R-F—)\fF
=A=+—~H 747 - 747
2018 2017
—ZE-N\F —T—+F
$°000 $000
¥ ¥
Representing: K&k :
Deferred tax assets BETIBE = (23) 21)
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIBEE 770 653
747 632
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

20 Capital and reserves

LA ETTIT)

20 EXRK e

(@) Movements in components of equity (a) I EEF
The reconciliation between the opening and closing REE LG S 5 o T R AR
balances of each component of the Group’s iﬁﬁ*ﬁ’]ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁfé,ﬁ?é}%/_ fEhFR o AN
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated NElE BRI RETEFRAE
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes FFEBFHN T X
in the Company’s individual components of equity
between the beginning and the end of the year are set
out below:
Share Merger Retained
capital reserve profits Total
BA&  EOEE REER @st
Note $000 $000 $000 $000
bz T T T T
Issued and paid at RZE—XRF 20(b)(i)
16 November 2016 +—HA+7KH
(date of incorporation) (A BE)
ERTRXEM = = = =
Change in equity for R-B—RE
the period from T—At+RHEZE
16 November 2016 to —E—+t&=H
31 March 2017: =+—RBHEH
EERE:
Arising from the HEMAES 20(b)i)
Reorganisation = 155 = 155
Balance at 31 March 2017 A=Z—+tf
and 1 April 2017 =A=1+—-HE
—E—tF
A — B — 155 - 155
Changes in equity for FREZEE
year:
Profit and total FRmA &
comprehensive income EEWEETE
for the year - - 6,974 6,974
Dividends declared in REBETRERE 200
respect of the current
year - - (6,000) (6,000)
Balance at 31 March 2018 R=Z—N\F=A
=+— A& — 155 974 1,129

The balances represent amounts less than $1,000.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

20 EXRK w#E @

20 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(b) Share capital (b) BRZA
Number of
shares Amount
BB k-]
$
JT
Authorised ordinary shares of FREE.O1BITHEE
HK$0.01 each: EER
At 16 November 2016 (date of RZZE—XRF+—A+H
incorporation), 31 March 2017, (FEfARZ B HR) »
1 April 2017 and 31 March 2018 T4 F=A=+—H "
—E—+tFONA—HK
—E-N\F=A=1+—H 38,000,000 380,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully BER{TREBEZER :
paid:
At 16 November 2016 (date of RZZE—ARFE+—A+~H
incorporation) (note (i) (FEMARSZ B 8#R) (M) 10,000 100
Avrising from Reorganisation (note (i) B3 EE4H 2 A= (P &) 10,000 100
At 31 March 2017, 1 April 2017 and 31 R ZE—+&F=A=+—H -
March 2018 —E—tFHA-HER=E
—N\F=RA=+—H 20,000 200
Capitalisation issue on 31 May 2018 —ZE— N \FRH/=+—HERK
(note 25(a)) {bE17 (Md7E25(0)) 749,980,000 7,499,800
Prior to issuance of shares on initial A& X _E 21T B
listing 750,000,000 7,500,000

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the

Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard

to the Company’s residual assets.

Notes:

Bt -

ERRBAABRURBARERAERE XA
BRARFAG LRBEBMNRE—F - AR
RIS NEEH - A EBRERRFMHA -

(i

The Company was incorporated on 16 November 2016 with an
authorised share capital of $380,000 divided into 38,000,000
shares of $0.01 each. On the same date, 10,000 shares of $0.01
each were allotted and issued at par.

Upon the completion of the Group reorganisation on 7 March
2017 (the “Reorganisation”), the Company became the holding
company of the Group. On the same date, 10,000 shares of
$0.01 each were further allotted and issued as at par.

() ARRRZT—RE+—A+NBEMKTL - EER
78 £380,0007T * 9 £38,000,000/% & A% E{E0.01 7T HY
f&fp o RIA - B IR {E R % & %1710,000/% &% 0.01
TCRIRRAD ©

iy RZF—tF=AtAAEEZTKEH(EHE])%

AABRBAEENZERAT - A - BREEE—
LB N 31710,0008% & A%0.01 TTHIRR A7 ©
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

20 Capital and reserves (Continued)

(c)

(d)

Land and buildings revaluation reserve

During the year ended 31 March 2015, a property with
carrying amount of $6,558,000 which was leasehold
land and buildings held for own use was transferred
to investment property as the property was leased
out. The difference between its fair value and carrying
amount at the date of transfer of $1,242,000 was
credited to land and buildings revaluation reserve and
was included in “revaluation gain recognised upon
transfer from property held for own use to investment
property” in the Group’s other comprehensive income.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount
of the excess of the nominal value of shares of Amuse
International Investment Ltd. over the nominal value of
shares of the Company exchanged, and the excess
of the nominal value of shares of Amuse International
Investment Ltd. over the nominal values of shares
of Bestone Creative Development Limited, Sentinel
International Co., Limited, Lai Ga Toys Co., Limited,
D4 Toys Co., Limited and Moon One Toys Co., Limited
exchanged as part of the Reorganisation.
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20 EXRK w#E @

(c)

(d)

T REFEMLRE
HE-_Z—RFE=A=1+—H8I1=
& - —JEBRT (86,558,000 7T I 1 1
BERAELTHEEFNYEEEEER
BYEEAYERL - ERNEEE
/)~ B B AR T B Z= 58 51,242,000
T BEARZELHREFEHN(GHER
% WIARSEEEME2ERZEA
[FEEAMEEREREYEERE
RHEFEERE] 2 -

EPtREE

AU REBAERBRBRIEEBRARR
PEERL AR R BRI HEER
EHRER  MEREBRKERRAR
BHOEEBLEAXEEERERA
A TEKRERBRAR - BRTA
A7 - D4 Toys Co., Limited & A
—IABRARMEREA —HMNER
BRHOEENZERE -
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BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} » 945 T 517 )

20 Capital and reserves (Continued) 20 EXRf#fE @
(e) Dividends (e) BE
Dividends declared during the year FREERRKRE

Year ended 31 March
BZE=A=t+—RHILLEE

2018 2017

—E-N\F —T—tF

$°000 $000

F7 F7

Interim dividends declared BEEIRF HR S 6,000 4,000
During the year ended 31 March 2017, Sentinel BHE-_Z—+tF=A=+—HI
International Co., Limited, D4 Toys Co., Limited FE - TEHEEERAAF D4
and Lai Ga Toys Co., Limited had declared interim Toys Co., Limited X 8 32 It E B [R
dividends in the amounts of $2,000,000, $1,000,000 RAEDRMEERFBRRE IR H
and $1,000,000 respectively to its then shareholder. f% &.2,000,000 7t * 1,000,000 7T K&
The amounts were settled through amount due from a 1,000,0007C - EH S FEFE BEW —

director. BB ERIBLE ©

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company HE_ZTZ—N\F=ZA=1+—HLEHF
declared interim dividends of $6,000,000, of which B » N2 RE K B Ak £.6,000,000
$900,000 has been settled through cash and JC © HA900,000TIABR &4 - ™
$5,100,000 was settled through amount due from a 5,100,000 7T 1@ FE It — B E E 58

director. %At o

—T—\&£R EReEERsRA7 115



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P
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20 EXL f#iE @
 EXER

20 Capital and reserves (Continued)

() Capital management

The Group’s primary objectives when managing
capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, so that it can continue to
provide returns for shareholders, by pricing services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between
the higher shareholders returns that might be possible
with higher levels of borrowings and the advantages
and security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions affecting the Group.

During the year, the Group’s strategy in monitoring its
capital structure, which was unchanged from 2017,
was to maintain a sufficient cash level to meet its
liquidity requirements.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

21 Financial risk management and fair
values

The Group’s major financial instruments include receivables,
deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables and bank loans. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks
associated with these financial instruments and the policies
on how the Group mitigates risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

(a) Credit risk

Principal financial assets consist of receivables,
deposits and bank balances. The Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of the
counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at
the end of the reporting period in relation to each class
of recognised financial assets is the carrying amount
of those assets as stated in the statement of financial
position.

Trade receivables may be affected by the unfavourable
economic conditions and the lower liquidity situation
which could in turn impact their ability to repay the
amounts owed. Trade receivables are due within O
to 30 days from the date of billing. Customers are
assessed and rated based on their credit quality, taking
into account of their financial position, repayment
history and other factors. The Group has policies in
place to ensure that sales are made to customers
with satisfactory credit history. It performs periodic
credit reviews of its customers. Other receivables are
assessed by reference to the historical information on
the default rates of the counter parties. Management
does not expect any significant losses from non-
performance by those relevant parties.

1 BBERERERAFE

AEBNTEV B TABERKA - &
T ReELREEHEY BHREMEN
FARIRITER - ZFWH TAFBENE
FAMERE - BREV B TERENRR
Ko 78 5= B ana] R AR R B B R 3R T3 ©
EEEEEMERZSRARNERNEE
B MEE 1R o

(a) EER
EMBEERRERFIE  Eek
RITHER - WRIHEHFEEBITHES
2B ARERFEHRESLEE
RV EEEMAS 2 ZNEERRE
BRBEHRRARANMIRZEEEZR
1A °

B2 R RNE X B TG ERIR
REZRBUEREBATE  BAMF
SHEERRREN - BHREFIAER
HEHEREFT0E30R AN ENH - FF{E
EABREPDENEEREAER ¥E
BEB MR - (B8R E R H Al A
= ARECDERER - BRKEET
BRARMEEREL 2R - AREE
HIHERPETEEEM - FHAEM
FEUERA2EREER LR ZE
£ BREIEHZEALTEOZ
TREEEEMNENES -
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21 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced
mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer rather than the industry or country in which
the customers operate and therefore significant
concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
Group has significant exposure to individual customers.
Within the business segments, 31% (2017: 22%) of
the total trade and other receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer at the end of the reporting
period. 43% (2017: 41%) of the total trade and other
receivables was due from the Group’s five largest
customers at the end of the reporting period.

Bank balances are limited to financial institutions with
high credit quality. The Group controls its credit risk
to non-performance by its counterparties through
monitoring their credit rating and setting approved
counterparty credit limits that are regularly reviewed.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (% 5 & #5995/

21 Financial risk management and fair HERREERAFE@

values (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending
covenants, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The Group’s liquidity position and compliance with loan
covenants are monitored closely by the management
of the Group. The following table details the Group’s
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities at the end
of the reporting period. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

B ETTST)

(b) REBEZER

AEBZHRRERERRDESS
KRB TEERS - BREREHE
T M E BRI R SAGE
EER  UWENEHLREHZRBHE

REBNREE SN K E R 5
TEAAASEEREEYER - T
ReAPIAEERNRERMRM B RED
BRRHER - BRENKRTIREAS
B AT RE R BRI R F B HEEE A
BHEBERBRBESRERE - BH
JIRBENBEMREREARE
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21 Financial risk management and fair 21 ERREERAFE@®
values (Continued)
(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) FRENE S @b ()
Contractual undiscounted cash flow
ENARRRSRE
More than ~ More than
Within oneyearbut  two years Carrying
oneyearor less than butlessthan  More than amount at
ondemand  twoyears  fiveyears  five years Total 31 March
IS
m-Fh  -F0E  WEHNE ZR=1-H
FRER ERMEUR BRFENUR fik:3V s B MREE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Fr Tr T r Fr Fr
2018 —E-N\F
Bank loans subject to RITETIRER
repayment on demand BUBH : B
clauses: scheduled BN
repayments 353 353 1,058 6,364 8,128 6,582
Trade payables ZHRMAE 2,893 - - - 2,893 2,893
Other payables and HiERFIER
accrued expenses [t 9,852 - - - 9,852 9,852
13,098 353 1,058 6,364 20,873 19,327
Adjustments to disclose ~ #IBEERAER
cashflows onterm loans B2 #E7F| H %
based on lender'sright ~ EHIEZHE S
to demand repayment MEEL MR 6,229 (353) (1,058) (6,364) (1,546)
19,327 - - - 19,327
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21 BHEREERQPE®

21 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (Continued) (b) REBES RS (H)

Contractual undiscounted cash flow

BHRMRRERE
Morethan  More than
Within  one year but two years Carrying
one year or less than  but less than More than amount at
on demand two years five years five years Total 31 March
i
R—ER —FNE RENRE =A=+-H
dEEX  EBMENAN BRENA  RENRE B RREE
$000 $000 $:000 $:000 $:000 $:000
T T T T T T
2017 “E-tF
Bank loans subject to RITERIRER
repaymenton demand SRR BE
clauses: scheduled BN
repayments 344 344 1,031 6,561 8,280 6,731
Trade payables BoRENFR 5,815 - - - 5815 5,815
Other payables and HHERFIER
accrued expenses BB 10,735 = = = 10,735 10,735
16,894 344 1,031 6,561 24,830 23,281
Adjustments to disclose ~~ #IBEEHAZK
cash flows on term loans B2 B F|
based onlendersright ~ THEZHE
to demand repayment MEELAHE 6,387 (344) (1,031) (6,561) (1,549)
23,281 - - - 23,281
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21 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from
bank loans. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group
monitors the level of its variable rate borrowings and
manages the contractual terms of the interest-bearing
financial liabilities. The Group’s interest rate profile as
monitored by management is set out in (i) below.

(i) Interest rate profile

HIEEASN

B ETTI )

SR ke T &N EE)

(c) FI=[Epx

AEEHNMERREZRNRITE
e REEESAKEEAZRERE
MERER -  AEEEREZSEEK
FRERTEMBEEENE ORI
ANEEREREEBERNFRMAAEHN
TXE()E °

() M=EHE

The Group KEE
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\F ZT—tF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate Amount rate Amount
BRI &8 BRAX x|
$000 $'000
T T
Variable rate borrowings:  FEEE :
Bank loans RITER 1.78% 6,582 1.62% 6,731

(i) Sensitivity analysis

At 31 March 2018, it is estimated that a general
increase/decrease of 50 basis points in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, would
have decreased/increased the Group’s profit after
taxation and retained profits by approximately
$27,000 (2017: $28,000). Other components
of consolidated equity would not be affected
in response to a general increase/decrease in
interest rates.
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SR ke T &N EE)

21 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (Continued) (c) FIZRpxE)

(i) Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the
annualised impact on the Group’s interest
expense that would arise assuming that the
change in interest rates had occurred at the end
of the reporting period and had been applied
to the secured bank loans which exposes the
Group’s to cash flow interest rate risk at that date.
The analysis is performed on the same basis as
2017.

(d) Currency risk

The Group’s functional currency and presentation
currency are Hong Kong dollars (“HKD”).

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily
through sales and purchases which give rise to
receivables, payables and cash balances that are
denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to
which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise
to this risk are primarily United States dollars (‘USD”),
Euros (“EUR”), Japanese Yen (“JPY”) and Renminbi
(“RMB”).

As the HKD is pegged to the USD, the Group does
not expect any significant movements in the USD/HKD
exchange rate.

(i) SURE DT E)
CEYIEL LS ERESEr
%4 WEARKAAEEES
B4R BHRAR 2 MR
R E - DREEE HITERA
B ROT BB 0
YE - AMSIE-E—tEY
R -

(d) E¥mEkE

AEENINEEE M2 ERRET
(&) -

AEERHZERERIERERE
BEMELZEWIR - BNFIENER
SR RFHB HIRINE (AR5
Prp %2 e E-IAINZ B )5t
B EXFHERR2E¥TERET
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 & 15855} - 5L T57)

21 BHEREERQPE®

21 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)
(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s and the
Company’s exposure at the end of the reporting
period to currency risk arising from recognised
assets or liabilities denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of entity to
which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in HKD,

translated using spot rate at the year end date.

(d) &&= b (&)

HE 2 BERR
TREJAEERARARERE
SRR LA A T 88 2 T B S M A
ShrEHHEZ DRRAERA
EFEEZ SHER - EREAR
A2 SRTYRFEEER 2 A
HERBERBT - UELFIZ
A e

At 31 March
R=A=+-H
2018 2017
—E-N\E “T—+tF
EUR JPY RMB EUR JPY RMB
[ A AR¥ BT = ARE
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $'000
Fr Fr T T T T
Trade and other receivables & 5 K E it E YR - 1,716 353 - 1,901 686
Cashand cash equivalents ~ HERBEZEN 79 4,221 6,828 653 3,565 6,141
Trade and other payables &5 R E A ENFIE - (1,363) - = (3,166) (40)
Net exposure arising from ~ ERAEERAE
recognised assets and FTES 2R
liabilities F 79 4,580 7,181 653 2,300 6,787
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 & #5855/

21 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s and the Company’s
profit after tax (and retained profits) and other
components of consolidated equity that would

B ETTI )

21 BHEREERDFE@

(d)

& b (&)

(i) BURREDHT
TRIRAEBRARFTRBEE
HARTE S AR 2 B =R
BRSBTS R A ER R
AN TBRBERFI(RIRE )

arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group MEADARE #Ea=Z o IR 2 BN
and the Company have significant exposure at the B (REFTAEMER “@J
end of the reporting period had changed at that ERGERFIE) - FLUIE -

date, assuming all other risk variables remained
constant. In this respect, it is assumed that the

@&%ﬁﬁ%ﬁzwgtw$§
BI2E5T 3 H A > (LB

pegged rate between the HKD and the USD BmZIEATE -
would be materially unaffected by any changes
in movement in value of the USD against other
currencies.
The Group KEE
At 31 March
R=A=+—H
2018 2017
—E-N\E T+
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) profit after  (decrease)  profit after
in foreign tax and in foreign tax and
exchange retained exchange retained
rates profits rates profits
BRI HERBiR
Ex wA R i il
tH/ REBER /S REBEA
(T¥) opZ (FE) HMEE
$°000 $'000
FTr T
EUR BT 10% 8 10% 65
(10%) 8) (10%) (65)
JPY H 10% 452 10% 251
(10%) (452) (10%) (251)
RMB AR 10% 712 10% 668
(10%) (712) (10%) (668)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 5 & #5855/

21 Financial risk management and fair
values (Continued)

(d) Currency risk (Continued)

(i)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the
above table represent an aggregation of the
instantaneous effects on each of the Group
entities’ profit after tax and equity measured in the
respective functional currencies, translated to the
HKD at the exchange rate ruling at the end of the
reporting period for presentation purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change
in foreign exchange rates had been applied to
re-measure those financial instruments held by
the Group which expose the Group to foreign
currency risk at the end of the reporting period,
including inter-company payables and receivables
within the Group which are denominated in a
currency other than the functional currencies
of the lender or the borrower. The analysis is
performed on the same basis for 2017.

(e) Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial
instruments carried at cost or amortised cost were not
materially different from their fair values as at 31 March
2018 and 2017.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5

22

23

o]

Commitments under operating leases

At 31 March 2018, the total future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as

B 15

B ETTI )

22 REFHEAE

RZZE—NF=ZA=+—H8 ' BETAH
W REHERREX N ARRKEEEN

follows: FRABRELOT ¢
2018 2017
—EB-N\F —FtF
$°000 $'000
T F7
Within 1 year —&R 1,051 856
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERFA 272 544
1,323 1,400

The Group leases a number of properties under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one to
two years. None of these leases includes contingent rentals.

Material related party transactions

Balance with a director is disclosed in the consolidated
statement of financial position and note 16.

The amount due from a director was unsecured, interest-
free and expected to be settled within one year. No
allowance for doubtful debts had been made in respect of
the amount due from a director as the balance was neither
past due nor impaired.

23

AEERBEE2HEEERETYE - HE
WIS FR—RAS—EMF - ZFHEM

EXBEBLIRS

BEFNBBNG M BRRERH E16
3 -

ER—2EEFALEERR  2EREH
R—FRERN - ERER—REEZHA
TELRIREE - R AZERLARB TR

=1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

24 Company-level statement of financial 24 AREEMBMRRT
position
2018 2017
—E-N\F —E—+F
Note $’000 $'000
BisE Frx Tt
Non-current assets FkRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KM@ AAMEE 15 155
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries NGRS O 5,746 =
Amounts due from shareholders B B8 7118 - =
Cash and cash equivalents HeRREEEY 114 =
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 58660 =
Current liabilities REBaE
Amounts due to subsidiaries  EfSMi@nElmE 4886 -
Netcurrentassets =~~~ #B®E®&E o4 T
Total assets less current liabilities @RERAHAR 1129 165
NET ASSETS EEFRE 1,129 155
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRf#EE 20
Share capital &N = =
Merger reserve B 155 155
Retained profits R A 974 -
TOTAL EQUITY MR 1,129 166
The balances represent amounts less than $1,000. * ZE LB FTE1,0007T ©
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors EEgRN - \FAAZTNBHEL
on 29 June 2018. ERET)E -
LI Wai Keung TO Hoi Pan
{2 TR
Director Director
EZE Ea
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k5 B #5855} -

25 Non-adjusting events after the reporting
period

26

The following significant transactions took place subsequent
to 31 March 2018:

(@)

Pursuant to the resolutions in writing of the
shareholders passed on 11 May 2018, subject to the
share premium account of the Company being credited
as a result of the Listing, the directors were authorised
to allot and issue a total of 749,980,000 shares to the
holders of shares on the register of members of the
Company as of 11 May 2018 in proportion to their
respective shareholdings, credited as fully paid at par
by way of capitalisation of the sum of HK$7,499,800
standing to the credit of the share premium account of
the Company, and the shares to be allotted and issued
pursuant to this resolution shall rank pari passu in all
respects with the shares in issue (the “Capitalisation
issue”). Such capitalisation issue has been completed
on 31 May 2018.

On 31 May 2018, the shares of the Company were
listed on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. In connection with the Listing, the
Company issued 250,000,000 shares at a price of
HKS$0.35 each for gross proceeds of HK$87,500,000.

Immediate parent and ultimate
controlling party

At 31 March 2018, the directors consider the Company’s
immediate parent and ultimate controlling party to be Infinite
Force Holdings Limited and Mr. Li Wai Keung respectively.
Infinite Force Holdings Limited does not produce financial
statements for public use.

26

A IN) S = —)
7%_'///( / ét]T ﬁf///j Wi

25 WEPHRHFAREE

UTERRGR_ZE—-N\F=A=+—H
ZIRAETT

(@)

BERENR-"Z—N\FRA+—HE
BREEAZRER  SA2FKKHG
mERAEMMERESER%E &%
EREBARARM ZERERS
7,499,800 8 LR E R « IREE N
AT ABR NS RETAEE
749,980,000 FE=Z=—F— N\
FHAT—BBIARAFRR LM
BHFEA  EOEEEERSEN
A& - MARIR UL R R A A &
BITRRMDBRES A EEEEEET
BHZHEREMA([EAEET]) -
ZEAMBITER=_ZE—N\FHA
=t+—B%= °

RZZBE—NFHA=+—H ' XAF
RPN EBE SR ZHTARAFGEM
EmepEmmE ARFIESR
0.3578 7T B9 B 1% %% 47 250,000,000 %
f&fn + P15 FNIE %8 £87,500,000%
=

HESQARRRRERS

RZZE—N\F=ZA=+—B EZRAEARX
RNAMBEES AR REREZER S DB A
Infinite Force Holdings Limited & 2= {& 38 5¢

i o

Infinite Force Holdings Limited It 2 #&

S EHRRIEAFARE ©
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B R M RE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5855 - LT )

27 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended

31 March 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the
HKICPA has issued a number of amendments and new
standards which are not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2018 and which have not been adopted in these
financial statements. These include the following which may

be relevant to the Group

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts
with customers

Amendments to HKFRS 2, Share-
based payment: Classification
and measurement of share-based
payment transactions

Amendments to HKAS 40,
Investment property: Transfers of
investment property

HK(FRIC) 22, Foreign currency
transactions and advance
consideration

HKFRS 16, Leases

HK(IFRIC) 28, Uncertainty over
income tax treatments

1 30 Amuse Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2018
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

27 RBE-B—N\E=A=+—

27 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2018 (Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these amendments and new standards is
expected to be in the period of initial application. So far the
Group has identified some aspects of the new standards
which may have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements. Further details of the expected impacts
are discussed below. As the Group has not completed its
assessment, further impacts may be identified in due course
and will be taken into consideration when determining
whether to adopt any of these new requirements before
their effective date and which transitional approach to take,
where there are alternative approaches allowed under the
new standards.

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments

HKFRS 9 will replace the current standard on accounting
for financial instruments, HKAS 39, Financial instruments:
Recognition and measurement. HKFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classification and measurement of financial
assets, including the measurement of impairment of financial
assets and hedge accounting. On the other hand, HKFRS 9
incorporates without substantive changes the requirements
of HKAS 39 for recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments and the classification and measurement of
financial liabilities.

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018 on a retrospective basis. The Group
plans to use the exemption from restating comparative
information and will recognise any transition adjustments
against opening balance of equity at 1 April 2018.

HIEFEECEMEMRERZ
&3] - E] ERIREREEE
Y 2FEm)

AEBEEERTRERZFER R £
HIFENFEETHE - ESAKERHR
FEAM — LT ARG RS BEHRERE
EXFE FHBRBEENE—THBR
TXEtam o AAKE R ARTKFE - 8K
SEAREERRAFE—TEE A
FORTETA 5% T3 #5727 A£ 2 B B Al =2 5 5R AW
ERZEFRE MR B TENEERT
AR R B ARRER AR E B% S
2 .

BEBMHRELEAENR ST
23
BRMBHREENFISRFRRERTAS
SERIEMIRITEA] : BAE G ERF39%
TRTH : ERKE - BEMBHREE
AIFSRSIATREES D MFTE - 8BS
RMEERENEREPRSIHEANRE -
A - BAMBHREENFIRUAE
B EFTERIEIREMER LR ILER S
RTAURED MFAESRAGNRE
WEEHEREN

BERUBREEANFSFIZEPERN —F
—N\F—HA—-BgzRAKNFEHRRELE
Mo AEBEBIERENLRERNT S
Kt —F— N\F0A— B RAKH
BRI AERAE -
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5855 - LT )

27 RBE-B—N\E=A=+—

27 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

Expected impacts of the new requirements on the Group’s
financial statements are as follows:

Classification and measurement

HKFRS 9 contains three principal classification categories
for financial assets: measured at (1) amortised cost, (2) fair
value through profit or loss (FVTPL) and (3) fair value through
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI).

Based on the preliminary assessment, the Group expects
that its financial assets currently measured at amortised
cost will continue with their respective classification and
measurements upon the adoption of HKFRS 9. The group
currently does not have any financial assets designated at
FVTPL or FVTOCI.

The classification and measurement requirements for
financial liabilities under HKFRS 9 are largely unchanged
from HKAS 39, except that HKFRS 9 requires the fair
value change of a financial liability designated at FVTPL
that is attributable to changes of that financial liability’s
own credit risk to be recognised in other comprehensive
income (without reclassification to profit or loss). The Group
currently does not have any financial liabilities designated
at FVTPL and therefore considers the initial application of
HKFRS 9 will not have a significant impact on the Group’s
results of operations and financial position.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5855 - LT )

27 RBE-B—N\E=A=+—

27 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment

The new impairment model in HKFRS 9 replaces the
“incurred loss” model in HKAS 39 with an “expected credit
loss” model. Under the expected credit loss model, it will
no longer be necessary for a loss event to occur before an
impairment loss is recognised. Instead, an entity is required
to recognise and measure expected credit losses as either
12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected
credit losses, depending on the asset and the facts and
circumstances. This new impairment model may result in
an earlier recognition of credit losses on the Group’s trade
receivables and other financial assets. However, a more
detailed analysis is required to determine the extent of the
impact.

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with
customers

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for
recognising revenue from contracts with customers. HKFRS
15 will replace the existing revenue standards, HKAS
18, Revenue, which covers revenue arising from sale of
goods and rendering of services. The Group is currently
assessing the impacts of adopting HKFRS 15 on its financial
statements. Based on the preliminary assessment, the
Group has identified the following areas which are likely to
be affected:
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BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (5 B #5855 - LT )
27 Possible impact of amendments, new 27 RBE-ZE—N\E=A=1+—
standards and interpretations issued but HIEFEEEMERKRERZ
not yet effective for the year ended 1&3&] ¥ET$EU&%¥§T EE
31 March 2018 (Continued) cWrd 7 - 1C |

?%Eﬁ%iﬁ%i’iﬁ—,ﬂu%ﬁ%ﬁ ' REF

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with

customers (Continued) IS SALE1E )
(@ Timing of revenue recognition (@) UESHERRHYAS R

Currently, revenue arising from the sale of goods is BA  SHEEWEENKREBER
generally recognised when the risks and rewards of BEHENEREEHRECERER }5

ownership have been passed to the customers.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains control of the promised good or
service in the contract. HKFRS 15 identifies 3 situations
in which control of the promised good or service is
regarded as being transferred over time:

(i)  When the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the entity’s
performance, as the entity performs;

(i)  When the entity’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer controls as
the asset is created or enhanced;

(i) When the entity’s performance does not create
an asset with an alternative use to the entity and
the entity has an enforceable right to payment for
performance completed to date.

If the contract terms and the entity’s activities do not
fall into any of these 3 situations, then under HKFRS
15 the entity recognises revenue for the sale of that
good or service at a single point in time, being when
control has passed. Transfer of risks and rewards of
ownership is only one of the indicators that will be
considered in determining when the transfer of control
occurs.
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27 RBE=F-/\F=A=+—-

HitFESEMERRERZ
B8] - FETEAIR BB ATREE

27 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended

31 March 2018 (Continued) Y 2FEm)
HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with EARMKREERE155 0 REFE
customers (Continued) IS Al e 1E )

(a) WasstERREVESE (8)

(@ Timing of revenue recognition (Continued)

As a result of this change from the risk-and-reward
approach to the contract-by-contract transfer-of-
control approach, it is possible that once the Group
adopts HKFRS 15 some of the Group’s contracts
that are currently recognised at a point in time may
meet the HKFRS 15 criteria for revenue recognition
over time. This will depend on the terms of the
sales contract and the enforceability of any specific
performance clauses in that contract, which may vary
depending on the jurisdiction in which the contract
would be enforced.

Based on the preliminary assessment, the Group
considers that the initial application of HKFRS15 will
not have a significant impact on the Group’s results of
operation and financial position.

BEERRMOHRECHREREKHZ
EHIRERE  WAKRERATEY
BmEEAFE155 - AEBEBATNE
— B EH T AR BN 0L ER
BEBM GRS LR E165 21T
R AR M © ERFEURNIHE AR K
TR BB AR LA E R A IR 7T
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27 RBE=F-/\F=A=+—-

HitFESEMERRERZ
B8] - FETEAIR BB ATREE

27 Possible impact of amendments, new
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended

31 March 2018 (Continued) Y2 EE @)
HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with EARNKREERE155 0 REFE
customers (Continued) IS SAl 6 1E )

b) BFEAERKREAZNZER

(b) Principal versus agent considerations

Currently, the principal versus agent determination
is based on risk-and-reward approach, whereas
revenue is recognised on a gross basis as a principal
in the transaction when the entity has exposure to the
significant risks and rewards associated with the sales
of goods or the rendering of services. If an entity is
determined as an agent in a transaction, revenue of
the transaction is recognised on a net basis.

Under HKFRS 15, revenue recognition is subject to
transfer of control as mentioned above. An entity is
considered as a principal when the entity has control
over specified goods or services in advance of
transferring them to the customers.

As a result of this change from the risk-and-reward
approach to the contract-by-contract transfer-of-
control approach, it is possible that the principal versus
agent determination for some of the Group’s contracts

BAT EFAEREBASNDZAER
REERREERSR - B BB
HESMARERGER ERRR
LEHE  ZEBR/XZTHNES
A HR G2 WS ABRRRER - IR
ERRAERXZTORIEA - BIA
AR F 2 Wk

RIBF B BGHRELERIE1GR - Wat
20 _E A A SR B RERE RS T IATERR - B
ERESHREMRRBERGEER
Z AR S EAT R IRy - EEE AR
REEAN-°

AR U R 7T S L K [ R T =
BEREAOEREFESN - &R
ENEAKEETARZESTARR
BAFDZRE - AEEEHFEHK

may change. The Group has assessed that the new mERTEHAEENEEXEE L
revenue standard will not have significant impact on AR MIER B ARFLE -
the Group’s results of operation and financial position.
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27 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases

As disclosed in principal accounting policies note 2(g),
currently the Group classifies leases into finance leases and
operating leases and accounts for the lease arrangements
differently, depending on the classification of the lease. The
Group enters into some leases as the lessor and others as
the lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way
that lessors account for their rights and obligations under
a lease. However, once HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees wiill
no longer distinguish between finance leases and operating
leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients, lessees
will account for all leases in a similar way to current finance
lease accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the
lease the lessee will recognise and measure a lease liability
at the present value of the minimum future lease payments
and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use” asset.
After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee
will recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding
balance of the lease liability, and the depreciation of
the right-of-use asset, instead of the current policy of
recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases
on a systematic basis over the lease term. As a practical
expedient, the lessee can elect not to apply this accounting
model to short-term leases (i.e. where the lease term is 12
months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which
case the rental expenses would continue to be recognised
on a systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
BRI P

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (%5 & #5855} » L0557 )

27 Possible impact of amendments, new

standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended
31 March 2018 (Continued)

HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a
lessee of leases for properties which is currently classified
as operating leases. The application of the new accounting
model is expected to lead to an increase in both assets
and liabilities and to impact on the timing of the expense
recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the period
of the lease. As disclosed in note 22, at 31 March 2018,
the Group’s future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases amount to $1,323,000 for
properties. Some of these amounts may therefore need to
be recognised as lease liabilities, with corresponding right-
of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The Group will
need to perform a more detailed analysis to determine the
amounts of new assets and liabilities arising from operating
lease commitments on adoption of HKFRS 16, after taking
into account the applicability of the practical expedient and
adjusting for any leases entered into or terminated between
now and the adoption of HKFRS 16 and the effects of
discounting. So far the directors of the Group do not expect
the adoption of HKFRS 16 would result in significant impact
on the results and the net assets of the Group.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
E S ES

Percentage
interest of Usage as at
Property the Group  Floor Area 31 March 2018
rEE
hEERZ R-ZZE—NF=A
LIES Bk EEHEE =1+t—HzHZ%
(sa.ft)
(EFR)

1 Flat C on 59th Floor of Tower 2, &% 100% 744 Director's quarter

The Dynasty AR E EEEE

No. 18 Yeung Uk Road HEE185R

Tsuen Wan, New Territories izl

Hong Kong 2E59ECE
2 Flat J on 32nd Floor of Tower 5 of &/ 100% 642  Investment property

Phase 1, Century Gateway o WEYZ

No. 83 Tuen Mun Heung Sze Wui  75.F9

Road B P48 % & B 835R

Tuen Mun TP —HA

New Territories SEE3AEIE

Hong Kong
3 Workshop No. 1 on 14/F B 100% 1,759  Warehouse

Wang Lung Industrial Building AREE BE

No. 11 Lung Tak Street BEEA115%

Tsuen Wan, New Territories RELEKNE

Hong Kong 1442157/
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Ui

A Summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the AEBEMEE=ATRFEFENEEURLEER
Group for the last three financial years extracted from the audited ~ B 1{& (Fsk B AN F REEX I B HRE LA LT B
financial statements in this annual report and the Prospectus of HiA—-Z— \FHA+N\BHBKRER)BMEZ a0

the Company dated 18 May 2018, is as follows: ™
2018 2017 2016
—E-N\F —T—+F —E—RF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEx FET FET
Revenue &= 132,025 136,888 123,154
Cost of sales SHEMZAR (95,733) (96,766) (90,942)
Gross profit EF| 36,292 40,122 32,212
Operating expenses RERY (15,522) (24,383) (10,119)
Profit before tax RRBE AR A 20,770 15,739 22,097
Income tax expenses FTiSFip 2 (3,860) (4,467) (3,838)
Profit for the year FRER 16,910 11,272 18,259
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted (in cents) EAREE(LAULED) 2.25 1.50 2.43
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Non-current assets FERBEE 25,408 22,968 18,989
Current assets MENBE 66,885 64,679 75,304
Current liabilities MBEE 20,891 27,272 40,880
Total assets less current liabilities #AEERRBERE
Non-current liabilities FRBAE 770 653 963
Net assets EEFE 70,632 59,722 52,450
Capital and reserves B #E
Share capital [N - - 129
Reserves & 70,632 59,722 52,321
Total equity Py 70,632 59,722 52,450
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